
1

Gareth Owens LL.B Barrister/Bargyfreithiwr
Chief Officer (Governance)
Prif Swyddog (Llywodraethu)

To: Cllr David Wisinger (Chairman)

Councillors: Marion Bateman, Chris Bithell, 
Derek Butler, David Cox, Ian Dunbar, Carol Ellis, 
David Evans, Alison Halford, Ray Hughes, 
Christine Jones, Richard Jones, Richard Lloyd, 
Mike Lowe, Nancy Matthews, Billy Mullin, 
Mike Peers, Neville Phillips, Gareth Roberts, 
David Roney and Owen Thomas

CS/NG

6 April 2017

Sharon Thomas / 01352 702324
sharon.b.thomas@flintshire.gov.uk

Dear Sir / Madam

A meeting of the PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE will be 
held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, MOLD CH7 6NA on 
WEDNESDAY, 12TH APRIL, 2017 at 1.00 PM to consider the following items.

Yours sincerely

Robert Robins
Democratic Services Manager

WEBCASTING NOTICE

This meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the Council’s website.  
The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on the website for 
6 months.

Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However, by 
entering the Chamber you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting 
and / or training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact a member of 
the Democratic Services Team on 01352 702345

Public Document Pack



2

A G E N D A

1 APOLOGIES 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
3 LATE OBSERVATIONS 
4 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 16)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 
2017.

5 ITEMS TO BE DEFERRED 
6 REPORTS OF CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT) 

The reports of the Chief Officer (Planning and Environment) are enclosed.



3

REPORT OF CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT)
TO PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE ON 12 APRIL 2017

Item 
No

File Reference DESCRIPTION

Applications reported for determination (A=reported for approval, R=reported for refusal)
6.1  055590 - R Full Application - Erection of 186 Dwellings and Ancillary Development at 

Chester Road, Penymynydd (Pages 17 - 54)
6.2  056325 - A Full Application - Change of Use from Seven Bedroom Dwelling (Class 

C3) to Residential Care Home (Class C2) for up to Nine Adults at 93 
Wepre Park, Connah's Quay. (Pages 55 - 62)

6.3  056257 - A Full Application - Amendments to Planning Permission 050293 Including 
Microbrewery, Internal Changes, Outside Walls and Garage at Poachers 
Cottage Inn, High Street, Ffrith. (Pages 63 - 70)

6.4  056542 - A Full Application - Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at The Old Stackyard, Bretton 
Court Mews, Bretton. (Pages 71 - 82)

6.5  056318 - R Outline Application for the Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at Crofters Cottage, 
Deeside Lane, Sealand. (Pages 83 - 92)

6.6  056669 - A Full Application - Erection of Sunroom and Garage with Bedroom 
Extension Above at 7 Pinewood Road, Drury. (Pages 93 - 98)

General Matters
6.7  The Size and Composition of Local Planning Authority Committees 

(Wales) Regulations 2017 (the Regulations) (Pages 99 - 100)



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
22 MARCH 2017

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Development Control Committee of 
Flintshire County Council held at County Hall, Mold on Wednesday, 
22 March 2017.

PRESENT: Councillor David Wisinger  (Chairman) 
Councillors: Marion Bateman, Chris Bithell, Derek Butler, David Cox, Ian 
Dunbar, Carol Ellis, David Evans, Ray Hughes, Christine Jones, Richard Jones, 
Richard Lloyd, Mike Lowe, Mike Peers, Neville Phillips, Gareth Roberts, David 
Roney, and Owen Thomas 

APOLOGIES:  Councillor Alison Halford

SUBSTITUTIONS:  Councillors Chris Dolphin (for Nancy Matthews) and Paul 
Shotton (for Billy Mullin)

IN ATTENDANCE: 
Chief Officer (Planning and Environment); Development Manager; Service 
Manager Strategy, Senior Engineer – Highways Development Control; Team 
Leader, Senior Minerals and Waste Officer, Senior Solicitor, and Committee 
Officer. 

146. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Marion Bateman declared a personal and prejudicial interest 
in agenda item number 6.1 – Full Application – Erection of 43 No. Dwellings 
and Associated Works at Ffordd Eldon, Soughton (054548), and agenda item 
number 6.2 – Full Application – Demolition and Relocation of existing Cricket 
Pavilion with Associated Parking and Erection of No. 91 Dwellings, Associated 
Infrastructure and Landscaping at Northop Cricket Club, Flint Road, Northop 
(055807).

The Solicitor advised that Councillor Marion Bateman had been granted 
dispensation to speak on agenda item 6.1. for five minutes and would leave the 
room after speaking.

Councillor David Wisinger declared a personal and prejudicial interest 
in agenda item number 6.4 – Full Application – Erection of Two Storey and 
Single Storey Extension to Rear of Dwelling at 5 Church Cottages, Old 
Sealand Road, Sealand (056436).  

147. LATE OBSERVATIONS

The Chairman allowed Members an opportunity to read the late 
observations which had been circulated at the meeting.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



148. MINUTES

The draft minutes of the meeting held on 22 February 2017 were 
submitted.

Matters arising

Councillor Mike Peers referred to the number of members of the public 
which were recorded in attendance at the meeting and said this was misleading 
as the majority of the public were not present throughout the meeting but had 
left during the meeting.  It was acknowledged that the number of members of 
the public in attendance would change throughout the meeting.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

149. ITEMS TO BE DEFERRED

The Chief Officer (Planning and Environment) advised that none of the 
items on the agenda were recommended for deferral by officers.

Councillor Richard Jones queried whether agenda item number 6.3 – 
Full Application – Construction and operation of a Household Recycling Centre 
at land off Chester Road, Oakenholt, should be deferred due to the additional 
comments and officer’s recommendation in the late observations which had 
been circulated at the meeting.  The Solicitor explained that the statutory 
procedures had been complied with and provision had been made, as stated in 
the late observations,  for the Chief Officer, with delegated authority,  to 
consider any further representations received prior to 25 March 2017 before 
issuing a decision.  On this basis he advised that there was no reason why the 
application could not be considered by the Committee at the meeting.

150. FULL APPLICATION – ERECTION OF 43 NO. DWELLINGS AND 
ASSOCIATED WORKS AT FFORDD ELDON, SOUGHTON (054548)

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and 
Environment) in respect of this application which had been the subject of a site 
visit and was deferred at the last meeting. The usual consultations had been 
undertaken and the responses received detailed in the report.  Additional 
comments received since the preparation of the report were circulated at the 
meeting.  

The officer gave an overview of the application and explained that the 
proposals were for the erection of 43 No. dwellings and associated works on 
land at Ffordd Eldon, Sychdyn, Mold.  The site was allocated for residential 
development in the Flintshire Unitary Development Plan by virtue of Policy 
HSG1 (38).  A Development Brief for the site had previously been produced 
and adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance in 2012.   Amended plans 
had been received in progression of the application on which further 

Page 6



consultation was undertaken.   The officer outlined the reasons for 
recommending approval, subject to conditions and to the applicant entering into 
a Section 106 Obligation.

Councillor Marion Bateman spoke against the application on the grounds 
that  it did not comply with its site-specific Development Brief (the Brief).  She 
said that the Brief had been advised because of the sensitive nature of the site 
due to the locally important Wats Dyke archaeological remains and the 
additional restrictions on the site, resulting in a requirement to build at an 
appropriate density.  She said that the Brief had been approved by Council in 
September 2012.  She referred to the need for compliance with the Brief which 
should be afforded considerable weight as a material planning consideration.  
She said that the Brief attached to the Sychdyn site had weight behind it and 
that there were examples in the report where it was stated that the Brief was a 
guidance document and not prescriptive which was misleading.  

Councillor Bateman said that the proposed number of dwellings were 
affected by the constraints of the site.  The net development area was 1.3 
hectares; a low density of 25 per hectare would produce 33 dwellings and an 
average density of 30 dwellings per hectare would produce 39 dwellings.  She 
said the Council did not consider it appropriate to exceed the levels given the 
circumstances of the site. The application was for 43 dwellings which was 
between 4 and 10 extra dwellings than in the Brief.   Referring to site description 
Councillor Bateman said a public right of way ran along the southern edge of 
the site which formed part of the Wats Dyke Heritage Trail.  She stated that 
bungalows primarily surrounded the site and that it may be appropriate to use 
this type of building design within the development at the southern side of the 
site where it interfaced with the existing village.  Councillor Bateman also 
referred to the proposals in paragraphs 7.19 and 7.20 of the report which she 
said were misleading and not compliant with the Brief.  

Councillor Bateman drew attention to paragraph 7.36 of the report and 
said that the Brief provided an indicative plan suggesting that the public open 
space could be provided centrally within the layout and objections had been 
received on the basis that the layout should reflect this.  She reiterated that she 
disagreed with the statement that the Brief was a guidance document only and 
not prescriptive policy, given its weight as a material planning consideration in 
line with advice from the Welsh Government. She urged Members to refuse the 
application on the grounds that it did not comply with the Brief.

Having earlier declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the 
application, Councillor Marion Bateman left the meeting prior to the matter 
being debated by the committee.

Dr. F. Hulbert spoke against the application and referred to the following 
reasons for recommending refusal: the valuation of the 4 No. gifted properties; 
inadequate and unsafe site access at Ffordd Eldon and excessive use of the 
unadopted road;  traffic congestion which threatened the safety of elderly 
residents and compromised the emergency services gaining access to the 
village at certain times of day; approval of the application would jeopardise the 

Page 7



Council’s duty of care; Wat’s Dyke Way was in poor condition and work was 
required to improve the condition of Wat’s Dyke Way to facilitate the proposed 
development;  increased traffic congestion  particularly around the primary 
school and playground area; the impact on the capacity of the local primary 
school; and the lack of housing need in Sychdyn.   In summing up Dr. Hulbert 
said it was not acceptable to grant approval, subject to conditions, without a 
thorough site access, design, travel, and traffic management plan being   
submitted as part of the application with a land contamination report.  

 
Councillor J Roberts, on behalf of Northop Community Council, referred 

to the importance of the Brief which was only commissioned in sensitive 
circumstances and the need to subscribe to it in full.  He commented on the 
unanimous opposition of Northop Community Council to the proposals and 
asked Members to support the wishes of the local community.  

Councillor Roberts spoke against the application on the following 
grounds; the density and number of dwellings proposed were in excess of the 
requirement in the proposed development; the reduction in affordable housing 
from 13 No. to 4 No. bungalows was unacceptable and was not in accordance 
with the 30% stated in the Brief; the lack of detail around management of public 
open space and the  archaeological buffer zone; the impact on the public right 
of way; and how the proposed management company was to be funded and 
operated.  He said these matters needed to be embodied in a construction 
management plan available for public inspection and determination.  Councillor 
Roberts also referred to the concerns raised around traffic on the development 
and referred to the impact on highway safety; the impact on the local primary 
school and elderly residents; the impact on the unmade section of Wat’s Dyke 
Way and the inadequacy of Ffordd Eldon as a site access point.  

 
Councillor Gareth Roberts moved the officer recommendation for 

approval which was duly seconded.  He commented that he saw no reason for 
refusal and pointed out that the proposal included 4 No. gifted properties to the 
Council not affordable properties as previously referred to.  Councillor Roberts 
said that if the application was refused and the applicant went to appeal there 
may be significant cost to the Authority if the appeal was successful.

Councillor Derek Butler concurred that there was no reason to refuse the 
application and commented on the value of the site visit.

Councillor Chris Bithell said the site was within the Flintshire Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP) and the settlement boundary.  He commented that 
there was no objection to the  proposal from the Highway Development Control 
Manager, or drainage bodies, and that there were no specific problems with 
access to the site.   Referring to the matter of affordable homes he said there 
were 4 No. gifted properties to the Council to meet affordable housing needs 
and commented on the difficulty experienced by many individuals in the current 
financial austerity to save towards the cost of an ‘affordable’ home.  Councillor 
Bithell also referred to the safeguarding measures to be undertaken to facilitate 
the preservation of archaeological remains.  He acknowledged the local 
concerns which had been raised around the preservation of archaeological 

Page 8



remains and the location of the play area but cautioned that if the application 
was refused and the applicant went to appeal Inspectors would seek evidence 
based facts which were not available in this instance.

Councillor Mike Peers supported approval of the application.  He spoke 
of the overarching purpose of the UDP and said that the Council had not yet 
reached the target guideline. In acknowledging the concerns which had been 
raised by Northop Community Council and local residents he commented on 
the residential development which had taken place in other areas in Flintshire. 
Councillor Peers referred to the impact on housing need by the 13 No affordable 
houses which had been initially proposed in the original plan being replaced by 
4 No. gifted bungalows to the Council.  He expressed concern that the proposal 
did not afford the same opportunity for local people to “get on the property 
ladder”. In response to his concerns officers explained that the gifted properties 
would be rented out at affordable rents that would be between 80 – 90% of 
market rates and that the bungalows were proposed in response to the specific 
needs of the community.  The scheme enabled home-owners in family sized 
homes to  downsize to the gifted properties and rent their property to the 
Council.  Officers confirmed this was a mandatory requirement within the 
scheme and that the bungalows would be let to local residents.  In further 
response to the comments around the 4 No. gifted properties the Service 
Manager Strategy explained that this form of provision had been specifically 
requested in the Development Brief. Councillor Peers raised further concerns 
around the education contribution to Sychdyn Primary School and the proposed 
site density.

On being put to the vote, the proposal to approve the application, subject 
to conditions and the inclusion of the increase in S106 contribution as referred 
to in late observations, was carried.

RESOLVED:

That conditional planning permission be granted subject to the applicant 
entering into a Section 106 Obligation to provide for:

(a) Control the provision and occupation of 4 No. bungalows within the 
development which are proposed to be gifted to the Council to meet     
affordable housing needs.

(b) Ensure the payment of an educational contribution of £49,028 towards 
school places at Sychdyn Primary School and £129,283 towards 
improving facilities to increase capacity at Argoed Secondary School.

And subject to the conditions detailed in the report of the Chief Officer (Planning 
and Environment)

After the vote had been taken, Councillor Marion Bateman returned to 
the meeting and was advised of the decision.

Page 9



151. FULL APPLICATION – DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION OF EXISTING 
CRICKET PAVILLION WITH ASSOCIATED PAKING AND ERECTION OF 91 
No. DWELLINGS, ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDSCAPING 
AT NORTHOP CRICKET CLUB, FLINT ROAD, NORTHOP (055807)

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and 
Environment) in respect of this application. The usual consultations had been 
undertaken and the responses received detailed in the report.  Additional 
comments received since the preparation of the report were circulated at the 
meeting.  

The officer gave an overview of the application and the main issues.  She  
explained that the proposals were for the repositioning of the existing cricket 
pitch and erection of new pavilion at Northop Cricket Club with associated 
parking, and erection of 91 No. dwellings with associated infrastructure and 
landscaping.  She explained that although further responses from Statutory 
Consultees were awaited as part of the application, the applicants had lodged 
an appeal on the grounds of non-determination.  The officer outlined the 
reasons for recommending refusal.  

Councillor Marion Bateman spoke for 3 minutes against the application 
on the following grounds:  the development would be on the edge of a 
conservation area which had a number of listed buildings and next to the 
Grade 1 church of St Eurgain and St. Peter; the site was located outside the 
settlement boundary of Northop but within a Green Barrier as defined in the 
Flintshire Unitary Development Plan;  the development would be detrimental 
to the character and setting of Northop and its conservation area; the 
application has failed many of the principles of sustainable development; the 
application  is a large scale development for the size of the community and 
would impact on the character and appearance of the village.

Having earlier declared a personal and prejudicial interest in the 
application, Councillor Marion Bateman left the meeting prior to the matter 
being debated by the committee.

Councillor J Roberts, on behalf of Northop Community Council, spoke 
against the application on the following grounds; the proposed development did 
not comply with the Flintshire Unitary Development Plan Policy GEN 4 and was 
contrary to the UDP in circumstances other than overwhelming need; the 
development was outside the village envelope and adjacent to a conservation 
area which included the Grade 1 church of St Eurgain and St. Peter, further 
listed buildings and their settings; the development of the site for housing would 
create a significant and unacceptable increase in housing development in the 
area which had already been subjected to a 22% increase; the proposed 
development would have an adverse impact on the local facilities and would 
place a substantial strain on local infrastructure and services; the additional 
traffic would create a risk to highway safety.   

 
Councillor Chris Bithell moved the officer recommendation for refusal 

which was duly seconded.  He said the site was not within the UDP or the 

Page 10



settlement boundary of Northop and was against local and national policy.  He 
stated that the proposed development would have a serious impact on the 
village which was adjacent to a conservation area and would be detrimental to 
its character and appearance.  Councillor Bithell commented on the scale of the 
proposed development which was in addition to that which occurred during the 
UDP and would result in a 42% increase in development in the village.  He 
reiterated that the proposals would have a significant detrimental impact on the 
village and the application should be refused.    

Councillor Derek Butler concurred with the views expressed by 
Councillor Bithell.

Councillor Mike Peers referred to the information contained in the report 
that the weight to be attached to increasing housing land supply is not 
considered to outweigh the harm that would arise from inappropriate 
development which would harm the open character and appearance of the 
Green Barrier.   He queried the number of affordable units which were proposed 
on site.   Councillor Peers raised further questions around the education 
contribution for Northop Ysgol Owen Jones Primary School and commented on 
the need to have the education contributions detailed within the report to 
ascertain the facts.  

The Development Manager responded to the concerns which had been 
raised by Councillor Peers around the proposed affordable housing and the 
education contribution.  The Service Manager Strategy provided clarification 
around the impact on the Green Barrier and setting of Northop and the need for 
the Green Barrier to protect a major road junction from visually intrusive 
development.

Councillor Richard Jones reiterated the comment by Councillor Bithell 
that the site was outside the settlement boundary in the UDP and commented 
on the need to protect an historic built environment and settlement.

On being put to the vote, the proposal to refuse the application was 
carried.  

RESOLVED:

That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out at paragraph 2 of 
the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and Environment).  

After the vote had been taken, Councillor Marion Bateman returned to 
the meeting and was advised of the decision.

  152. FULL APPLICATION – CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF A 
HOUSEHOLD RECYCLING CENTRE AT LAND OFF CHESTER ROAD, 
OAKENHOLT (056547)

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and 

Environment) in respect of this application which had been the subject of a site 

Page 11



visit. The usual consultations had been undertaken and the responses received 
detailed in the report.  Additional comments received since the preparation of 
the report were circulated at the meeting.  

The officer gave an overview of the application and explained that the 
proposals were for the construction and operation of a Household Recycling 
Centre (HRC) to the east of the existing ‘Dependable Concrete’ batching facility 
on land off Chester Road (A548) in Oakenholt.  The facility would replace the 
existing HRCs currently located in Flint and Connah’s Quay. 

The officer advised that the recommendation was to grant planning 
permission subject to the condition contained in report of the Chief Officer 
(Planning and Environment) with delegated authority for the Chief Officer 
(Planning and Environment) to consider any further representations received 
prior to the 25 March 2017 before issuing a decision. 

Mr. J. Yorke spoke against the application on the following grounds: the 
application did accord with the Council’s approved development plan; the 
proposal was outside the settlement boundary; the proposal would be an 
intrusion of landscape and would have significant adverse impact on protected 
sites and species.  Mr. Yorke continued that the proposal would extend 
industrialisation of the A548 conflicting with UDP requirements of the green strip 
between Connah’s Quay and Oakenholt.  He commented on the odour which 
permeated from the Greenfield site at the A548 roundabout and the further 
problems of noise, ground vibration, and traffic pollution in the parameter area.  
Mr. Yorke commented that there were failings in the transport assessment 
around the proposed junction design and location. He also outlined concerns 
around the signal installation and design of the signalised site junction which 
he said failed to meet Government design minimum standard requirements.  
Mr. Yorke expressed further concerns around road realignment and speed 
limits.

Mr. A. Hoyle, the agent for the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application and said a new HRC facility would being numerous  benefits to the 
residents of Connah’s Quay and Flint.  The new HRC would  provide a modern 
purpose designed facility to replace the two existing HRC sites.  He explained 
that the existing facilities located in Flint and Connah’s Quay were difficult to 
access, limited in space and facilities, and did not offer full opportunities for 
waste segregation and recycling.  The proposed site was situated centrally 
between Connah’s Quay and Flint, would be easily accessible by the general 
public and was ideally positioned to serve its catchment area.  Mr. Hoyle stated 
that there were no suitable alternative sites to locate the new facility.  Outlined 
the many benefits of the new HRC, Mr. Hoyle referred to improved safety, a 
wide range of skips and storage bays, and increased  opportunities for waste 
segregation and recycling.  In conclusion Mr. Hoyle commented on the 
suitability of the site access arrangements and reiterated that the proposed site 
was the right location for the new facility and had been designed to meet the 
needs of the local communities.   
   

Page 12



Councillor David Cox moved the officer recommendation for approval 
which was duly seconded.   He said that the existing Connah’s Quay and Flint 
HRCs were no longer fit for purpose and were in need of replacement. He 
commended the Cabinet Member for Waste Strategy, Public Protection and 
Leisure, the Chief Officer and his team, for the work undertaken on the 
proposals.  

Councillor Ian Dunbar welcomed the proposals and commented on the 
significant benefits to be gained by the residents of Connah’s Quay and Flint in 
terms of ease of public access, additional opening hours, improved health and 
safety, and increased recycling rates for Flintshire.  Councillor Dunbar 
expressed appreciation for the tenacity of local residents and the work of the 
Cabinet Member for Waste Strategy, Public Protection and Leisure, to ensure 
that HRC provision was retained for local residents.  

Councillor Paul Shotton also supported the proposals and said that the 
concerns raised around traffic had been addressed by the reduced speed and 
traffic lighting proposals under the Section 278 Agreement.  He referred to the 
many benefits to be gained by the local communities of Flint and Connah’s 
Quay and referred to the 7 day opening hours, improved standards, and 
potential to increase recycling rates in Flintshire. 

Councillor Derek Butler referred to the Native Black Poplars which are 
Britain’s rarest timber tree and sought clarification around the safeguarding 
measures as the Poplars were not currently subject to a Tree Preservation 
Order.  He asked that Natural Resources Wales be asked to check the 
arrangements around the drainage on site which may have an impact on the 
trees.      

Councillor Mike Peers referred to the business ‘Dependable Concrete’ 
which was located next to the proposed  site and asked if this was also in open 
countryside and how planning permission had been granted for that application.

Councillor Richard Jones said that there were a number of risks with the 
proposed site and that there could be additional costs incurred due to the need 
to address these, citing land contamination as an example.  He referred to the 
suitable site which had been identified by the Welsh Government and said that 
the need for the new site and the proposed location had to be balanced against 
the overall costs. 

The officer responded in detail to the concerns which were raised around 
safeguarding of the Native Black Poplars, drainage, location of  the site in the 
open countryside, the potential risk of contamination, and the potential for odour 
to develop on site     The officer also referred to the concerns which were raised 
around failing of the proposed junction design and said this had been addressed 
within the Transport Assessment and an update was provided in the additional 
comments circulated at the start of meeting.

The Chief Officer (Planning and Environment) acknowledged the 
comments raised by Councillor Richard Jones concerning the potential for 

Page 13



associated costs with the proposed site and stated that the matter for 
consideration by the Committee was around the appropriate use of land.  The 
Chief Officer also acknowledged the point made by Councillor Derek Butler 
regarding Tree Preservation Orders and said he would pursue this matter with 
the relevant officer.  

On being put to the vote, the proposal to approve the application with the 
amended recommendation referred to in the late observations, was carried.

RESOLVED:

That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed in the report  
and with delegated authority for the Chief Officer (Planning & Environment) to 
consider any further representations received prior to the 25 March 2017 before 
issuing a decision. 

Having earlier declared a personal and prejudicial interest in application 
number 056436, Councillor David Wisinger left the meeting prior to the matter 
being debated.  Councillor Ian Dunbar, Vice-Chair, took the Chair for the 
remainder of the meeting.

153. FULL APPLICATION – ERECTION OF TWO STOREY AND SINGLE 
STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR OF DWELLING AT 5 CHURCH 
COTTAGES, OLD SEALAND ROAD, SEALAND (056436)  

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and 
Environment) in respect of this application. The usual consultations had been 
undertaken and the responses received detailed in the report.  

The officer gave an overview of the application and explained that the 
proposal was for the erection of a single and two storey extension to the rear of 
5 Church Cottages, Old Sealand Road, Sealand.  The main considerations 
were the impact on residential amenity and the visual appearance of the 
proposal. 

Councillor Derek Butler moved the officer recommendation for approval 
which was duly seconded.  On being put to the vote, the proposal to grant 
permission was carried.

RESOLVED:

That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions detailed in the 
report of the Chief Officer (Planning & Environment).  

After the vote had been taken, Councillor David Wisinger returned to the 
meeting and was advised of the decision.

Page 14



154. FULL APPLICATION – CHANGE OF USE AND CONVERSION OF AN 
EXISTING CHAPEL TO FOM A SINGLE DWELLING AT CYSEGR CHAPEL, 
RHEWL MOSTYN, HOLYWELL (056319)  

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer (Planning and 
Environment) in respect of this application which had been subjected to a site 
visit. The usual consultations had been undertaken and the responses received 
detailed in the report.  

The officer gave an overview of the application and explained that the 
proposal was for the change of use and conversion of the existing chapel to 
form a single dwelling and to utilise the area to the side of the chapel for the 
parking of vehicles and to set back the existing front wall and railings by 1metre.  
He outlined the reasons for recommending approval, subject to conditions, as 
detailed in the report of the Chief Officer (Planning & Environment).

Mr. P. Bevan, the applicant, spoke in support of the application and said 
that the proposed change of use and conversion of the existing chapel was to 
form a single  residential dwelling for family use.  He stated the concerns which 
had been raised that the proposed scheme was also intended for commercial 
use were unfounded and reiterated that the application was solely for a 
residential dwelling.  He addressed the concerns which had been made around 
the parking of vehicles and proposed alterations to the boundary wall and 
explained that the provision for parking to the side of the building was viable.  
Mr. Bevan said that the proposal would utilise an existing building which was 
likely to continue to deteriorate in the future.  

Councillor David Roney proposed that the application be refused.  The 
proposal was not seconded.

Councillor Gareth Roberts moved the officer recommendation for 
approval which was duly seconded.  He said there was no planning reason to 
refuse the application.

Councillor Chris Bithell supported the application and said the proposal 
would secure an existing building from potential loss or further deterioration and 
would retain the existing historic and characteristic appearance of the building.  
Regarding the concerns which had been raised around the creation and use of 
the proposed parking provision he said highway officers had assessed the 
application and had raised no objection to the proposal.  He commented on the 
previous use of the building as a Chapel and said there was adequate parking 
provision in close proximity to the building without restrictions and easy access 
to public transport services.

Councillor David Roney spoke against the application.  He said there 
had been a number of objections to the proposal from local residents 
concerning the impact on parking in the area which was a specific problem 
during in the evening. 

Page 15



Councillor Owen Thomas spoke in support of the application and 
commented on the benefit in terms of safeguarding a local building of historic 
character and appearance for the future.  He referred to the building’s former 
use as a Chapel and said there had always been availability for residents to 
attend Chapel services by car and to park in proximity to the building without 
objection.

On being put to the vote, the proposal to grant permission was carried.

RESOLVED:

That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions detailed in the 
report of the Chief Officer (Planning & Environment).  

155. APPEAL BY ELAN HOMES LTD AGAINST THE DECISION OF FLINTSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL TO REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE 
ERECTION OF 56 DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED ACCESS, OPEN 
SPACE AND INFRASTRUCTURE AT KINNERTON LANE, HIGHER 
KINNERTON - ALLOWED (054770)

RESOLVED:

That the decision of the Inspector to allow this appeal be noted.

156. MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS IN ATTENDANCE

On commencement of the meeting there were 29 members of the public 
and 1 member of the press in attendance.

(The meeting started at 1.00pm and ended at 3.15 pm)

…………………………
Chairman

Page 16



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 12 APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: FULL APPLICATION - ERECTION OF 186 
DWELLINGS AND ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT AT 
CHESTER ROAD, PENYMYNYDD

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

055590

APPLICANT: REDROW HOMES NW

SITE: CHESTER ROAD,
PENYMYNYDD

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

30TH JUNE 2016

LOCAL MEMBERS: COUNCILLOR D.T.M. WILLIAMS & 
COUNCILLOR MRS C. HINDS

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL:

PENYFFORDD COMMUNITY COUNCIL

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE:

SIZE AND SCALE OF DEVELOPMENT

SITE VISIT: YES

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is a full application for the erection of 186 dwellings and all 
associated works on land off Chester Road, Penymynydd.

1.02 The main issues to be considered within the determination of this 
application are;

 Principle of the development; 
 Sustainability;
 Affordable housing;
 Public Open Space;

Page 17

Agenda Item 6.1



 Education;
 Landscape and visual impact;
 Ecology;
 Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land;
 Archaeology;
 Highways;
 Public Right of Ways & Bridleways;
 Drainage – surface water and sewerage and
 Design and impact upon amenity.

1.03 In terms of the principle of residential development on the site, it is 
considered contrary to both national and local planning policies given 
that the site is located outside the settlement boundary and within 
open countryside as defined by the Adopted Flintshire Unitary 
Development Plan.  The site is being promoted predominantly on the 
basis of the current shortfall in housing land supply.  However, it is 
considered that the weight attached to increasing the housing land 
supply does not outweigh the harm that would arise from the 
detrimental impact of such a scale of development as this would have 
upon the cohesiveness of the community and the principles of 
sustainable development.

1.04 Most of the detailed matters of the application may be capable of 
being resolved apart from outstanding issues relating to surface water 
management.  It is considered that insufficient details have been 
submitted to enable a full assessment of any risks of flooding of the 
site and surrounding area to be made.

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR 
THE FOLLOWING REASONS

2.01 The site is located outside the settlement boundary for Penyffordd and 
Penymynydd and within open countryside as defined by the adopted 
Flintshire Unitary Development Plan.  It is considered that the weight 
attached to increasing housing land supply is not considered to 
outweigh the harm that would arise from the detrimental impact of 
such a scale of development would have upon the cohesiveness of 
the community and principles of sustainable development as set out in 
Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition – November 2016) and contrary to 
paragraph 6.2 of TAN1 and contrary to Policies STR1, GEN3 and 
HSG4 of the Flintshire Unitary Development Plan.

2.02 Insufficient surface water drainage details have been submitted to 
enable a full assessment of the risks of flooding of the site and 
surrounding area to be made.  The proposed development is therefore 
contrary to Policies GEN1 and EWP17 of the Adopted Flintshire 
Unitary Development Plan and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 
‘Development & Flood Risk’ (July 2004).

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

Page 18



3.01 Local Member
Councillor D.T.M. Williams
Strongly objects to the proposal on the following grounds and 
requests application to be dealt with at Committee level.

The development proposal if approved.

 Is being considered under conflicting information on Planning 
Policy and Government advice and as such makes this an 
application not worthy of consideration if certain versions of 
Policy and Advice are being interpreted.  This point will be 
elaborated on at Committee.

 Is a premature application.  This is a premature application with 
LDP being formulated and if approved, this application could 
prejudice and possibly handicap future applications for other 
sites that have been submitted for expression of interest for the 
LDP.  If this site is accepted, it is possible that others would be 
rejected due to this application satisfying commitment towards 
housing supply in County if approved.  Sites next to the bypass 
that are more logical for development and identified in the 
expression of interest sites could be handicapped if this site is 
permitted.

 Is outside settlement boundary of the adopted UDP which is 
still being worked upon until the LDP is formulated.

 Will have a negative impact on education.  Full schools, out of 
the six years including nursery places, four of the years in 
Penyffordd are full and three of the six are full at Penymynydd.

 Will have a negative impact on community wellbeing due to 
increase in population so urbanising and diminishing 
community spirit which is currently in decline due to such 
urbanising as a result of the two large sites of the past three 
years.

 Will create an over dominance of dwellings in the open 
countryside and will have a negative impact on the streetscene 
at the eastern entrance to the village.

 Will result in the loss of privacy and potential loss of light for 
neighbours of proposed dwellings.

 Will significantly impact on the volume of traffic using already 
congested roads in the village, so will increase the issues 
regarding road safety in the proposed location and village in 
general due to increased traffic.

Page 19



 Will have a negative impact on community facilities.  The last 
open space survey conducted for the ward identified a shortfall 
of 5.02 ha outdoor youth and adult open space and 0.95 ha 
shortfall of children’s free playspace.  The two large 
developments under the UDP provided provision for the 
immediate sites adjoining the developments, but the broader 
community has not benefitted and the space on each site has 
not addressed the overall shortfall for the ward.  There should 
be no further residential developments until this shortfall is 
addressed by the authority, especially in regard to outdoor 
adult/youth space to provide for the current long suffering 
community!

 Not support the development or broader community with no 
doctor’s surgery, a lack of shops and general amenities.

 It will be unacceptable encroachment on the open countryside.

 Will have a potential disturbance and negative impact on the 
protection of natural habitat and wildlife including, Bats, Song 
Thrush, Short Eared Owls, Newts and natural growth and 
habitat in the hedgerows!

 Not adequately provide for the need for more open space – two 
of the three senior football teams of the village have had to 
disband this year through unsustainability of having to play 
outside the village.   There is still one senior football team, 
seven junior football teams, a senior cricket team, and various 
other organisations who, with the exception of the remaining 
senior football team, have to operate outside the village with no 
provision for support by way of recreation space in ward.

 It will increase flood risk at bottom of village currently subject to 
sewer overflows and flooding, particularly around entrance to 
Penymynydd Road.

 Overloaded sewage system – regular issues at bottom of the 
village near the Millstone and Youth Club.

 Water pressure problems in the area of the application.

Councillor Mrs C. Hinds
Objects on the following grounds:-

 Until Welsh Water carries out urgent upgrading of the water 
and sewage systems, no further developments should be 
allowed.  The village is still awaiting an upgrade.

 Much more traffic in the village.

Page 20



 Penymynydd & Penymynydd have only one shop and off 
licence.

 Need a doctor’s surgery and clinic because now the new 
residents cannot find a doctor or dentist.  Schools need to be 
looked into.

 Highways need to consult why community council and county 
councillors first know to go ahead with their own views and 
consult after and still do what they want.

 Big developments with executive homes is not needed.  To 
keep a community together small bungalows for the older 
generation, affordable homes for our children and 
accommodation that can be rented as a lot of people cannot 
afford to buy a house.  Better bus services are required as 
residents cannot travel to work on a Sunday by public transport 
as there is no service.  Cannot sustain this many houses 
because of infrastructure and amenities.

 Environmental disaster if this land were developed.  
Recordings of rare birds, Tawny Owls and Barn Owls and wild 
flowers.  Path 8 which links to historic bridleways.  Cannot 
destroy wildlife.

 Development on brow of a hill and will be very dangerous as 
entrance onto Chester Road which is a busy and fast road.

 It is a rural community with equestrian centre and surrounded 
by farm land.  Settlement boundary in place now and is there to 
protect the communities environment.

 Need to utilise the 888 homes that are empty.

 Does not keep communities together.

 Objection still the same and minor changes make no 
difference.

 Rhos Road appeal was won and other applications on top of 
this will cause problems for the community and will cause over-
development.

 Houses are not affordable being 4 bedroom.  Affordable 
housing in the way of pensioner’s bungalows and rentable 
accommodation is what is needed.

Penyffordd Community Council

Page 21



Strongly objects to the proposed development.  The main reasons 
being:-

 Village is over developed and is not provided the protection 
against displaced housing from Cheshire promised in the 2000 
– 2015 UDP.

 Recent developments in the village failed to provide the 30% 
affordable homes requirement which has now left the village 
with little to no affordable housing leading to facilities having to 
leave the village and relatives in search of affordable 
properties.  Only offers 19 affordable homes.  Strict on 
affordable housing which is leading to social exclusion.

 Overdevelopment.  190 houses would achieve 38.5% of the 
Council’s own annual target for development.  Not acceptable 
in one village which has already been subject to maximum 
development allowance in 2000 – 2015 UDP on the Elan, 
Redrow and Taylor Wimpey sites.

 Search sequence for previously developed land or under used 
buildings including surplus employment land before housing on 
greenfield sites should be undertaken.

 HSG3 requires that on development sites resulting in growth of 
more than 15% will need to be justified on grounds of housing 
need.  No justification with this application.

 10% local need is not enough.  No affordable housing in the 
village now.  No socially inclusive.

 Category A settlements (10 – 20% growth) sites are Buckley, 
Holywell, Shotton, Connah’s Quay, Queensferry, Mold and 
Flint.

 Should be a variety of type and tenure of affordable homes.

 190 homes is 38.5% of the entire annual target in one village.  
This is unacceptable.

Highways Development Control Manager
Majority of highway issues have been satisfactorily addressed apart 
from that an appropriate system for the collection and disposal of 
highway surface water has not been identified.

Emergency Services confirmed that a single point of access is 
satisfactory to meet their needs.  They and building control are 
satisfied regarding the proposed lengths of cul-de-sac and confirm 
they comply with the usual standard.

Page 22



Provision of footways and bus stop facilities on Chester Road can be 
covered by a condition to undertake the works would be covered by a 
Section 278 Agreement.

Off-site pedestrian and cycle linkages including the possible provision 
of a suitable hard surface and suitable lighting to Bridleway 24 and 
pedestrian links to Chester Road and Kent Close footpath.

Construction of the site access, provision of street lighting and 
footways necessitate an extension to the existing 30 mph speed 
restriction on Chester Road, a Section 106 Agreement will be required 
to fund the amendments to the traffic order.

If application is approved suggests approximately worded conditions 
are attached to any planning permission granted.

Environment Directorate: (Rights of Way)
Public Footpath No. 8 is now shown designed into the estate 
development on the revised plan.

If consent granted, there should be no requirement for a Public Path 
Diversion Order as this has been incorporated into the design of the 
new development, however it is likely that a temporary closure order 
would be required for a large duration of the construction works.

Concern is the length of time it will take to complete the development 
which will likely render the path unusable.

Proposals have been put forward to improve the surface of Bridleway 
No. 24 and lighting be installed along the route.  Requests the surface 
remain untreated and no lighting to be installed along the route.  This 
is a popular bridleway for users on horseback and the surface at 
present is suitable for its usage.

Requests any consent includes a condition to safeguard the route of 
Public Footpath No. 8 during construction works.

Head of Public Protection
Noise survey indicates that noise will be within acceptable levels with 
some mitigation.  Recommends suggested conditions attached to any 
planning permission granted.

Education – Capital Projects & Planning Unit (CPPU) 
Schools affected are Penyffordd Primary School and Castell Alun 
High School.

The Penyffordd Primary School requested contribution is £551,430 
with the Castell Alun High School requested contribution requested is 
£591,008 which will be spent on curriculum areas.

Page 23



Housing Strategy Manager
Requests on site provision of 20 affordable ownership–shared equity 
units (10 x 2 bed houses and 10 x 3 bed houses), 7 affordable rent-
gifted units (5 x 2 beds and 2 x 3 beds) and a commuted sum of 
£450,000 (equipment to 14 units).  This is based on the local need for 
the area.

Play Unit
Unable to support the application due to the lack of recreation facilities 
a community of this scale would require.

Requires a sports pitch 100 x 70 m.  Play provision of an area not 
more than 10,000 sq.m. equipped to a neighbourhood level and 
including a multi-use games area.  This play space should be located 
in one central location to be agreed.

Natural Resources Wales
Previous response remains valid.  This being:-

Great Crested Newts
Proposal has potential to cause disturbance to Great Crested Newts 
and/or loss or damage to their resting places.

Authority should not grant planning permission without having 
satisfied itself that the proposed scheme either would not impact 
adversely on any GCN’s on the site or that, in its opinion, all three 
conditions for the eventual grant of a licence are likely to be satisfied.

Consider that the development is not likely to be detriment to the 
maintenance of the favourable conservation status of the GCN 
population provided that nay subsequent consent is subject to the 
imposition of the suggested conditions or obligations.

Bats
None of the trees on site were shown to support bats.

Advise a condition regarding the submission and approval of a light 
spillage scheme to be submitted and approved should planning 
permission be granted.

Bio-Security
Is a material consideration owing to the nature and location of the 
proposal.  Advise that any consent includes the imposition of a 
condition requiring the submission and implementation of a 
Biosecurity Risk Assessment to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Flood Risk
Site lies within Zone A as defined in TAN15 Development & Flood 
Risk (2004) and shown on Welsh Government’s Development Advice 

Page 24



Map.  Development is likely to increase the surface area of 
impermeable ground, thus reducing percolation and increasing rapid 
surface run-off.  TAN15 advises that in all zones development should 
not increase flood risk elsewhere.

Prior to granting permission, recommend contact with FCC drainage 
department for advice.  This is to ensure that conditions are not 
attached to a planning permission which could later prove impossible 
to implement.

North-East Wales Wildlife
No response received to date.

North Wales Wildlife Trust
No response received to date.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water
Hydraulic Modelling Assessment identified that detriment to the Local 
Sewer Network would be caused as a result of the new development 
connecting.  Number of options for sewer network reinforcement have 
been provided, the implementation of one of these options would 
enable the development to connect into the public sewer network 
without causing any detriment to the local community or environment.

Support application on basis that appropriately worded conditions are 
used in the determination of the planning application

Welsh Government Land Use Planning Unit
The ALC report dated 4th May appears to have been completed in 
accordance with the MAFF 1988 guidelines and criteria for addressing 
agricultural land quality.  The report provides a fair reflection of 
agricultural land quality across the site.

Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust
No archaeological implications for the proposed development at this 
location.

North Wales Police
Requests that this whole development be built to Secure by Design.

Fire Service
Following observations to make:-

 Single access point.  Provided the access complies with Table 
20 of ADB, no issues.  Likewise use of bridleway.

 Roadway lead to Plot 178 no longer than 20 m if it is, 
compensatory feature such as the installation of a 
hammerhead.

Page 25



 Side roads to certain properties not over 20 m and 
hammerhead is of sufficient size to allow a fire appliance to 
turn.

 Access for plots 158 – 162, roadway needs to carry 12.5 
tonnes required for a fire appliance.

 Roadway leading to plot 32 – 38, pumping appliance needs to 
reach all properties within 45 m of the available access for the 
vehicle.

 Number of fire hydrants required within the site, to ensure that 
a property is no further than 100 m from them.

Ramblers Association
Amendments do not overcome previous concerns – the public path is 
now mainly turned into roads (albeit on definitive line), and layout is 
still woefully lacking in Active Travel provision – not a cycleway on the 
site (see UDP Policy AC2, 3, 4, 13, 14 etc) previous comments being 
Ramblers object to the application on the following grounds.

 Proposal will directly affect and obstruct the Public Footpath 
Number 8 from Daisy Hill Farm.

 No provision made for a through path.  Any closure or division 
of the public footpath will require a separate order.  The 
Ramblers likely to maintain a formal objection to any such Draft 
Order.

 Layout uninspired and fails to make provision within the layout 
for “Active Travel”, and linking the development to adjacent 
rights of way e.g., bridleway 24 or other estate footpaths to the 
west and south.

British Horse Society
No response received to date.

SP Energy Networks
Have plant and apparatus in the area and the developer is advised to 
contact them prior to any works being undertaken.

Wales & West Utilities
Has pipes in the area.  Apparatus may be affected and at risk during 
construction works.  Should the application be approved, then require 
the promoter to contact them directly to discuss their requirements 
before any works commence on site.  Should diversion works be 
required these will be fully chargeable.

Airbus
Proposed development does not conflict with safeguarding criteria.

Page 26



During construction, the developer will be required to submit crane 
permits where required.

No aerodrome safeguarding objection to the proposal.

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Press Notice, Site Notice, Neighbour Notification
277 letters of objection received.  The grounds of objection are 
summarised below:-

 Loss of Village (harm).  Sheer scale of recent growth started to 
dilute community spirit.  This will increase.  Lack of affordable 
housing will result in next generation moving away.  Sense of 
family under threat.

 Pace of Change (unsustainable).  400 houses – over 1,000 
people added in past 5 years or less.  Infrastructure cannot 
keep pace.

 Bus and Rail Transport (unsustainable).  Unrealistic for the 
train station to present it as a heavily used resource for 
commuters.  No pedestrian access across the A550 to either 
Penyffordd or Buckley train stations.  Bus services are 
impractical for working people to use.  Lack of non-peak 
services.

 Surrounding Road Network (unsustainable).  Local road 
network overloaded at peak times which will get worse.  
Increase of accidents.

 Roads in the Development (harm and unsustainable) single exit 
with option to open a link through Holly Drive is unsuitable and 
unsustainable.

 Damage to Roads (unsustainable).  Significant increase in 
traffic journeys will exacerbate problem of poor state of roads in 
the area.

 Traffic Impact Inside Village (unsustainable and harm).  
Development will lead increased traffic to the village shops and 
schools detriment to highway safety.

 Lack of School Places (unsustainable).  Places limited at the 
moment.  New school will only increase number of places in 
line with capacity of village today.  Not provide for additional 
capacity.

 Broad and Provision (unsustainable).  Provision is very poor 
and highly constrained.  Has a negative impact on businesses 

Page 27



and local residents seeking to access online services.

 Open Space (unsustainable and harm).  Open space is a 
significant failing in past developments.  New developments 
have provided only for childrens play provision.  Footpath 
through the development is heavily used for dog walkers, since 
it is a large open space for dogs.

 Waste (unsustainable and harm).  Main sewer in the village too 
small for number of houses using it.  To consider sustainability 
of development must be considered within wider context of the 
whole village capacity and not simply managing the capacity of 
the development.

 Surface Waste (unsustainable and harm).  Real concerns that 
removal of green land will introduce problems with water run off 
which could adversely affect properties on low ground.

 Water (unsustainable and harm).  No extra water capacity until 
main supply to village is upgraded.  Problems with water 
pressure.  None of the investment by DCWW is earmarked for 
Penymynydd or Penyffordd.

 Affordable Housing (Harm).  Prices out of reach of many 
existing villagers and first time buyers or those looking to 
downsize.  Not providing the full allocation of affordable 
housing on site.

 Healthcare (unsustainable and harm).  Villagers not being 
provided with adequate access to medical services.  Adding 
additional 500+ residents will make the problem worse for new 
and existing residents.

 Prematurity.  Applicants are having to submit early and outside 
of the process in order to reduce the risk of being left behind or 
missed out.  Applications have been approved outside of the 
LDP such as Rhos Road, bringing forward more applications 
outside of the LDP process.

 Coalescence.  Development taking the village boundary close 
to neighbouring Broughton and Kinnerton.  The development at 
Warren Hall will bring the industrial development of Broughton 
to within a handful of fields of Penyffordd.

 Proposed sites in Buckley could bring Buckley close to 
Penyffordd.

 Emerging LDP.  It is believed that Penyffordd is not subjected 
to as much as 10% growth under the LDP.

Page 28



 TAN1 and Planning Policy Wales.  Imperative that UDP policies 
retain significant weight until LDP is ready.  Need to clarify 
scope and intention of TAN1 to avoid irreparable damage to 
border villages and to validity of the whole LDP process.

 Brownfield Land.  Previously developed land or underused 
buildings, including surplus employment land should be 
allocated for housing before new greenfield sites e.g., 053417.

 Housing Need.  Significant growth in Penyffordd needs to be 
managed according to need which has not been demonstrated.  
Developers are bringing forward sites which offer more 
financial potential in villages which are commutable and open 
up the lucrative Cheshire market.

 Settlement Boundary.  Land is outside settlement boundary.  
Not considered under UDP, which remains the current policy.  
The settlement boundary remains valid.

 Settlement Size – overdevelopment.  Village overdeveloped 
under the UDP with actual growth of 21%.

 Against UDP guidance of 8 – 15%.  Growth sits at 28%.  This is 
not sustainable without border investment in and consideration 
of the wider infrastructure.

 Transport.  Development needs to be located so as to minimise 
demand for travel.  Little employment in Penyffordd – most 
people travel out of the village to work or study.  Bus services 
have been reduced and trains from Wrexham to Bidston is 
infrequent and a mile walk from the site.  No medical facility 
within the village closest large employers are Hanson Cement, 
Airbus and Broughton Retail Park which are accessible by bus 
but there are no continuous footpaths or cycle paths.

 Nature and Environment.  Fields impacted by the development 
contain hedgerows which are over 150 years old and contain a 
variety of shrubs, flowers and tree species.  Numerous species 
of nesting birds as well as Great Crested Newts, bats, 
hedgerows, moles, mice and badgers.

 Noise and Disturbance.  Residents on Chester Road, Hazel 
Drive and Kent Close will be significantly affected by noise, 
privacy and increased activity.  Village already suffers with 
factory noise from Hanson Cement and excessive road noise 
impact would be harmful.

 Displaces Housing from Cheshire.  Village is threatened by the 

Page 29



limited land available in Chester for housing development.

 Housing Mix.  60% 4 bedroom with less than 10% 2 bedroom.  
No appropriate mix likely to create a mixed and socially 
inclusive community.  No bungalows on this site.

 Affordable Housing.  Village has had repeated development 
where the developers have been allowed the minimum number 
of affordable homes and skewing the community.  Youngest 
generation are being forced out of the village.

 Wider Context.  Developers failed to build houses in Flintshire 
on sites proposed under the UDP and remains a shortfall 
against forecasts, despite the technical lack of a 5 year housing 
supply.  Housing need and distribution is best considered 
properly within the LDP process.

 A Prosperous Wales.  Under this goal new developments 
required to minimise land take.  This development does not do 
this.  The proposal will place added pressure on the inadequate 
water and drainage system.  The road system would not be 
able to take the additional volumes.

 A Resilient Wales.  Development will go against the goals of 
ecological resilience, social resilience, climate change and 
development in the countryside.

 A Healthy Wales.  Will place added pressure on existing health 
care provision.  Additional housing and traffic will result in 
worsening noise and air quality conditions.

 More Equal Wales.  Mix of housing is focussed on wealthier 
residents with limited provision of affordable homes and no 
consideration of the needs of the disabled, elderly or future 
generations.

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities.  Does not meet this goal 
when the poor public transport network and lack of businesses 
within walking distance are considered.  Development does not 
take into account the communities needs and provides only 
limited affordable homes.

 Land for housing development, even with obligatory urban 
drainage system is likely to lead to faster run-off and increase 
flooding in areas downstream.

A further 32 letters of objection have been received upon the 
amended plans, raising no further objections to those stated above 
other than they do not resolve the previous objections.

Page 30



5.00 SITE HISTORY

5.01 054089 
Pre-Application Advice – Proposed residential development.

02/12/00213
Renewal of planning permission ref:  97/12/00419 – To allow re-
establishment and extension of dwelling in former farmhouse – 
Granted 7th May 2002.

97/12/00419
Proposed re-establishment and extension of dwelling in former 
farmhouse – Granted 10th June 1997.

4/12/24761
Change of use of building last used for agricultural storage to a 
dwelling and creation of an extension – Granted 9th February 1996.

197/72
Outline Application for erection of dwellings – Refused 3rd March 
1972.

136/64 
Outline Application for erection of dwellings – Refused 28th April 1964.

Adjacent Site – North
048892
Erection of 85 dwellings comprising 2/2.5 storey units with associated 
garages, parking, garden areas and public open space with demolition 
of existing public house and outbuildings – Granted 26th October 
2012.

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan 
STR1 – New Development.
STR2 – Transport & Communications.
STR4 – Housing.
STR7 – Natural Environment.
STR11 – Sport, Leisure & Recreation.
GEN1 – General Requirements for Development.
GEN3 – Development in the Open Countryside.
GEN5 – Environmental Assessment.
D1 – Design Quality, Location & Layout.
D2 – Design.
D3 – Landscaping.
D4 – Outdoor Lighting.

Page 31



TWH1 – Development Affecting Trees & Woodlands.
TWH2 – Protection of Hedgerows.
L1 – Landscape Character.
WB1 – Species Protection.
AC2 – Pedestrian Provision & Basic Rights of Way.
AC13 – Access & Traffic Impact.
HSG4 – New Dwellings Outside Settlement Boundaries.
HSG8 – Density of Development.
HSG9 – Housing Mix & Type.
SR5 – Outdoor Playing Space4 & New Residential Development.
EWP12 – Pollution.
EWP13 – Nuisance.
EWP16 – Water Resources.
EWP17 – Flood Risk.
IMP1 – Planning Conditions & Planning Obligations.

Local Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes
Local Planning Guidance Note 2 – Space Around Dwellings.
Local Planning Guidance Note 3 – Landscaping.
Local Planning Guidance Note 4 – Trees & Development.
Local Planning Guidance Note 8 – Nature Conservation & 
Development.
Local Planning Guidance Note 9 – Affordable Housing.
Local Planning Guidance Note 10 – New Housing in the Open 
Countryside.
Local Planning Guidance Note 11 – Parking Standards.
Local Planning Guidance Note 13 – Open Space Requirements.
Local Planning Guidance Note 22 – Planning Obligations.
Adopted Supplementary Guidance – Developer Contributions to 
Education.
Developer Guidance Note – Speculative Housing Development 
Proposals.

National Planning Policy
Planning Policy Wales (9th Edition – November 2016).
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 1:  Joint Housing Land Availability 
Studies (2015).
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 2:  Planning & Affordable Housing 
(2006).
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5:  Nature Conservation & Planning 
(200().
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12:  Design (2014)
Technical Advice Note 16:  Sport, Recreation & Open Space (2009).
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18:  Transport (2007).

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

Page 32



7.01 Site Description
The application site is 7.72 ha and is located on the eastern edge of 
the village of Penymynydd.  It is roughly oblong in shape and 
comprises of six fields of gently sloping farmland.  A residential 
property and stabling complex is located in the south east corner.  
Surrounding the perimeter of the site is mainly a mix of hedgerows, 
trees and fences, with a variety of trees and hedges also running 
through the site.

7.02 Footpath No. 8 crosses the site from the north-west direction to the 
south east, linking to the residential areas to the west.

7.03 The northern boundary is defined by mature hedgerows and trees 
along a track and Bridleway No. 24.  To the north of this hedgerow 
bund track is an open green space and play area within a new 
residential development called Heritage Park which is accessed off 
the A5104 to the north.  Mature trees are present on this hedgerow 
boundary.

7.04 The boundary to the south abuts Chester Road, which runs north-
east-southwest.  It is defined by mature hedgerow.

7.05 Farmland and Daisy Bank Farm are east of the site, with Chester 
Road and Lower Mountain Road beyond.  The southern extent of this 
boundary is defined by mature hedgerow.

7.06 The western boundary abuts the existing residential development of 
the village and includes mature hedgerow and trees and property 
boundaries comprising garden hedgerows and fencing.  Mature trees 
are present on this hedgerow boundary.

7.07 The site is part of a wider landscape of rolling farmland interspersed 
with woodland blocks, small watercourses and well maintained 
hedgerows and frequent hedgerow trees.

7.08 The Proposals
This is a full application for the erection of 186 dwellings including 
affordable housing, public open space, access, drainage and other 
associated infrastructure upon a 7.72 ha area of land at Chester 
Road, Penymynydd.

7.09 The proposed dwellings are two storey in nature.  The dwellings are a 
mixture of detached, semi-detached and mews properties, 
comprising:-

 57 x 3 bed units.

Page 33



 102 x 4 bed units.

7.10 The proposed layout provides for affordable housing comprising of;
10 x 2 bed shared ownership houses and
10 x 3 bed shared ownership houses which will be managed through 
Grwp Cynefin HA.

5 x 2 bed affordable rent-gifted units and
2 x 3 bed affordable rent- gifted units these are equivalent to 21 units.

And the commuted sum equivalent of 14 units.  

These proposals have been agreed with the Council’s Housing 
Strategy Manager as an appropriate and justifiable response to 
affordability issues in the area.

7.11 The proposed development would be accessed from a new access 
point created onto Chester Road. Proposed pedestrian footways are 
proposed linking Footpath No. 8 into Hulleys Close, the site links into 
Bridleway No. 24 to the North and the site into the existing footway at 
the end of Kent Close.  Public open space and a multi-use games 
area are proposed within the middle of the site.

7.12 Main Issues
The main issues for consideration in the determination of this 
application are:-

 The Principle of Development in relation to National and Local 
planning policy and the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.

 Provision of Affordable Housing, Public Open Space & 
Education Contributions.

 Landscape & Visual Impact.
 Ecology.
 Best & Most Versatile Agricultural Land.
 Archaeology.
 Public Right of Way & Bridleway.
 Highway Implications.
 Drainage of the Site.
 Design & Impact Upon Residential Amenity.

7.13 Principle of Development
The site is located outside the settlement boundary for Penyffordd & 
Penymynydd in the adopted UDP.  Penyffordd & Penymynydd is a 
Category B settlement with a planned growth threshold of 15% 
(beyond which any additional development would have to be justified 

Page 34



on the grounds of housing need).  As at April 2015, the settlement had 
a growth rate of 27.1% over the plan period which is in excess of the 
planned growth rate.  The monitoring of growth over a 15 year period 
as required by HSG3 ended on 1st April 2015.

7.14 In terms of policies in the UDP, Policy GEN3 sets out those instances 
where housing development may take place outside of settlement 
boundaries.  The range of housing development includes new rural 
enterprise dwellings, replacement dwellings, residential conversions, 
infill development and rural exceptions schemes which are on the 
edge of settlements where the development is wholly for affordable 
housing.  Policy GEN3 is then supplemented by detailed policies in 
the Housing Chapter on each type.

7.15 Given the proposal is for an anticipated 186 dwellings and does not 
fall within the scope of the above policy framework, then the proposal 
is contrary to these policies in the adopted UDP and is a departure 
from the development plan and has been advertised as such.

7.16 The applicant is reliant on the lack of a housing land supply as the 
principle justification in support of their application, and against which 
they say the Council should approve it.

7.17 This is not sufficient in its own right and should not necessarily be 
given significant weight unless, as TAN1 advises, the development 
would otherwise comply with local and national policies, and as PPW 
sets out, there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

7.18 In relation to these principles, the degree to which the proposal is 
compliant with local and national policy is the first ‘test’ in relation to 
the principle of its suitability for development.  In this context, the 
detail of the scheme is of less relevance, if it is not acceptable in 
principle.

7.19 In this respect, the site is clearly located outside of the settlement 
boundary for Penyffordd and Penymynydd in the adopted UDP, and 
equally does not meet the criteria set out in either Policy GEN3 
Development in the Open Countryside or Policy HSG4 New Dwellings 
Outside Settlement Boundaries, which define the specific and limited 
instances where residential development may be acceptable in the 
countryside.  This proposal is not one of those exceptions.

7.20 That said, given that the adopted UDP is time expired, a key factor is 
the weight to attach to the settlement boundary for Penyffordd and 
Penymynydd, and therefore the suitability of this location for 
development.

7.21 Penyffordd and Penymynydd were judged to represent a sustainable 
location for development as part of the UDP, and to that extent two 
large sustainable sites were allocated within the settlement boundary 

Page 35



in the adopted plan.  Both of these sites have only relatively recently 
been substantively developed out for 356 homes (132 on the White 
Lion site and 224 on the Wood Lane Farm site.  Over the 15 year Plan 
period the actual level of completions represents a growth in housing 
in the community of 21%, or 27% if the Meadowslea site (outside the 
settlement boundary) is included which is almost double the upper 
level of the indicative growth band for this category B settlement, as 
defined in the UDP.  If growth is re-calculated for the LDP period 
(2015 to 2030) the 81 commitments at the Wood Lane Farm site and 
the 40 units recently allowed on appeal at Rhos Road, results in a 
growth of 7.5% which increases to 18.9% if the application site is 
included.

7.22 At the time of the UDP Inquiry, the UDP Inspector also considered this 
sit along with other objection sites, and the proposed allocations.  The 
Inspector rejected this site stating “This large area of land could 
accommodate over 190 dwellings and would result in an 
unacceptable level of growth contrary to the Plan’s sustainability 
principles.  The land is outside the defined settlement boundary 
and would result in an excessive incursion into the countryside.  
There is no need or justification to allocate this land”.

7.23 The UDP Inspector was clearly concerned from a number of 
perspectives:

 The addition of this site to those already allocated would result 
in unacceptable and unsustainable growth;

 The level of growth allocated, whilst almost double that 
indicated by the settlement growth band, was acceptable 
without this site, as was the settlement boundary;

 This site was an inappropriate location for development.

7.24 This site if developed would add, as calculated earlier, a further 18.9% 
(along with other commitments) growth to the 27% that has 
substantially only come forward in the last 5 years or so, i.e., in the 
latter years of the UDP period.  Given the present lack of a 5 year 
supply, it is anticipated that these speculative sites, if granted planning 
permission, would be delivered over the early years of the LDP period.  
That would mean that in total over 500 homes and up to 1,500 new 
residents would have been added to the community by the end of this 
proposal, and within a ten year period.  Over the UDP period only one 
category B settlement experienced a higher actual growth rate from 
completions which was Drury/Burntwood at 26.7%.  However, if the 
Meadowslea development is included in the calculations, then 
Penyffordd/Penymynydd had the highest growth of any settlement in 
the County.  It is interesting in looking at Category A settlements that 
only Mold at 10.1% and Buckley at 17.4% fell within the indicative 
growth band of 10-20%.  In this broader context the growth in 

Page 36



Penyffordd/Penymynydd is in excess of any other settlement in 
Flintshire.  The UDP Inspector supported a higher level of growth in 
the settlement given the location and characteristics of the settlement 
and the availability of two logical and defensible housing allocations.  
However, this does not necessarily mean that a similar growth in the 
LDP period is either acceptable or sustainable.  In those terms this is 
clearly unacceptable growth.

7.25 It is also arguable that, given the growth band for category B 
settlements envisaged growth up to 15% during the UDP period, and 
this settlement has grown at almost double that level, then the 
settlement’s contribution to housing provision has been substantial, 
both within the UDP period and requirement, and extending beyond 
into the emerging LDP timeframe.  This is particularly important from 
the perspective of community cohesion and the time required for new 
housing and residents to become successfully integrated into the 
community.

7.26 From this perspective it is not an automatic presumption that this 
settlement will, or needs to, accommodate growth as part of the LDP 
and certainly not at this scale.  Indeed, it has already had smaller 
scale consents grant during the LDP plan period which count as 
commitments to address the local needs of the settlement.  The 
Council is at the pre-deposit stage with its LDP and has made no 
decisions yet as to what development any settlement will have.  
Notwithstanding this, and a lack of any evidence to the contrary 
submitted with the application, the applicant simply assumes that:

 As significant development took place as part of the UDP and 
was considered sustainable, this can simply be repeated as 
part of the LDP;

 Whilst the LDP is in its “early days…”, “only one of the 
suggested options for growth did not identify Penyffordd as a 
location where growth would take place”.

7.27 Both of these assumptions are false and highlight a lack of justification 
presented with this proposal.  In particular the second assumption 
also highlights a lack of understanding between emerging LDP growth 
and spatial options, neither of which have stated that growth “would 
take place” in Penyffordd or Penymynydd.  In addition, neither 
assumption makes a convincing case for this site or location being 
suitable.

7.28 Given this and the view of the UDP Inspector on this site, as well as 
the contribution Penyffordd and Penymynydd has made to housing 
provision over and above that expected by the UDP growth bands, 
this is not a suitable location for development at the scale proposed.  
As such significant weight can be given to the adopted UDP 
settlement boundary in this location and the fact that the site 

Page 37



represents inappropriate development in the open countryside.  In 
these circumstances, the test set out in TAN1 is not met, and as such 
the weight to attach to a lack of land supply is very limited, as it is not 
the purpose of the TAN to make otherwise unsuitable sites, suitable.

7.29 Sustainability
In terms of sustainability, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out in PPW has to be demonstrated by the applicant, 
and is not an assumed right that simply flows from submitting an 
application against TAN1 and a lack of land supply.

7.30 The Council have made it very clear that this should be clearly 
demonstrated and evidenced as part of a speculative application, via 
its Developer Guidance Note, emphasising particularly that such a 
justification needs to extend beyond simply noting the facilities in a 
settlement, to how a proposed speculative development of this scale 
can successfully integrate into a community without affecting or 
damaging its cohesion.

7.31 Whilst the applicant has invested time in challenging the status of the 
Council’s guidance note, this time might have been better spent in 
addressing this fundamental point.  Notwithstanding the status of the 
guidance note, the applicant has been asked by the Council to provide 
such an assessment during the course of considering the submitted 
application.  The applicant could have undertaken a Sustainability 
Appraisal of the settlement and proposed development using the 
Sustainability Appraisal indicators being used to test the UDP and 
these can be found in the SA Scoping Report on the LDP website.  It 
is the Council’s view that they have failed to provide convincing 
evidence of such an assessment.

7.32 In a letter to the Council the applicant did make a comparison to an 
appraisal presented for a site for 37 units off Rhos Road, Penyffordd.  
This was a simplistic and superficial assessment of the sustainability 
of the proposed development of just 37 dwellings, and is not 
appropriate in any respect for one for 186 dwellings.  The Council’s 
purpose in highlighting this assessment was to demonstrate that other 
speculative developers had attempted to meet the requirements of the 
guidance note, and therefore national policy, and the need to justify 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  It was not to 
promote it as a model to follow.  The applicant’s conclusion, having 
following this simple format, that their site is “arguably more 
sustainable” than the Rhos Road site is naïve, superficial, and does 
not address the main point about community integration and cohesion.

7.33 Equally, the question asked of the applicant was not, as they have 
misinterpreted, “is the site sustainable”, but rather “is this a 
sustainable development”.  There is a fundamental difference 
between these which is reflected in the lack of an adequate response 
from the applicant.

Page 38



7.34 In contrast, the community have given clear expression to their 
concerns regarding this proposal via a community questionnaire which 
received a very high response rate, and the development of their own 
Village Plan.  Part of this is a clear concern for the impact of this 
proposed development on the loss of village identity and their sense 
of community, the pace and scale at which development has 
happened, and could be compounded by this proposal, and the 
impact it will have on the economic, social and environmental 
infrastructure of the community and settlement.

7.35 The applicant has failed to directly address these valid concerns from 
the community, instead appearing to offer an implied criticism of the 
stance of the community, expressed as “an almost instinctive fear of 
new development”. The only contextualisation provided by the 
applicant is that they state that the development would be “delivered 
progressively”, or drip fed, over “a number of years”.

7.36 There are a number of concerns that emanate from such an 
approach:

 Its failure to adequately explain how such a scale of development 
will not affect community cohesion during construction and once 
completed;

 How such an approach delivers an ‘urgent need’ for housing in the 
“short term”?

 How “a degree of uncertainty associated with the housing market” 
in any way is reflective of the community’s local need for 
“sufficient, good quality housing, including affordable housing for 
local needs”, or indeed the ability of this development to be 
delivered effectively and sustainably.

7.37 The statements above are all from the applicant’s submissions and 
serve to illustrate the lack of understanding as well as any real attempt 
to consider how this proposal represents a sustainable proposition, 
given clear Council and community concerns about the impact that 
such a level of growth would have cumulatively, on the ability of this 
community and settlement to successfully integrate such growth, 
without negatively impacting on the cohesion of the existing 
community.

7.38 Whilst the work done to date at the pre-deposit stage of the LDP does 
in general consider Penyffordd and Penymynydd as a sustainable 
village, this places the settlement in the third category of the 
settlement hierarchy below main and local service centres. This does 
not state, and nor therefore should it be assumed, that this means that 
growth that occurred at the level in the UDP can and will be 
acceptable as part of the LDP. Given that there are two tiers of 

Page 39



settlements above the tier of ‘sustainable settlements’’ it would be 
logical to assume that the upper two tiers i.e. Main Service Centres 
and Local Service Centres would be more appropriate to 
accommodate larger development proposals, reflecting their size, 
overall character, role and level of services and facilities. To simply 
assume as the applicant has, that this level of development will be 
sustainable in a third tier settlement, falls significantly short of the 
minimum required to demonstrate and justify a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.

7.39 This is also far short of the available evidence that the Council, in 
exercising its responsibilities as a decision-maker, requires in order to 
judge whether this is a sustainable proposition. This responsibility is 
heightened by the duty placed on the Council under the Well Being of 
Future Generations Act, and specifically the objective for a Wales of 
more cohesive communities (PPW Section 4.8 page 60).

7.40 No consideration has been given to this by the applicant, as to how 
such a significant scale of development and change in this 
community, could be successfully integrated. In the absence of this a 
development of this scale has the potential to cause harm in terms of 
the negative impact it would have on the cohesiveness of the 
community. It is housing for housing’s sake and is not driven in any 
sense by a desire to meet the local community’s need for “sufficient, 
good quality housing, including affordable housing for local needs”. It 
is rather, a speculative opportunity to create a demand to live in this 
‘attractive location’. In this sense Penyffordd and Penymynydd simply 
become the means to promote new housing to the market creating a 
demand on a scale that is significantly in excess of that deemed 
sustainable by the UDP Inspector, that might be needed locally, or 
that might successfully integrate into this community. Such an impact 
can dilute the existing character and identity of this settlement.

7.41 This was recently reinforced by Lesley Griffiths AM, Cabinet Secretary 
for Environment and Rural Affairs who, in clarifying to Heads of 
Planning in Wales the Welsh Government’s position on housing land 
supply, stated “the principles of sustainable development and the 
creation of cohesive communities, which forms the basis of 
Welsh Government planning policies, should not be undermined 
by the need to increase housing land supply” (Letter dated 23rd 
February 2017 Ref: LG/00496/17).

7.42 Recent appeal decisions (Ewloe Old Hall Road/Greenhill Avenue, 
Ewloe – Ref:  APP/A6835/A/14/220730) have also recognised the fact 
that “there is a danger that the need to increase supply and lack of a 
5-year housing land supply could be used to justify development in 
inappropriate locations”. Such is the case here. This is clearly a 
speculative housing-led proposal, the main justification for which is the 

Page 40



inability of the Council to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, 
rather than whether it represents a sustainable development. As well 
as not being in the right location at the scale proposed, it has also 
failed to meet this critical test of national policy.

7.43 Having regard to the above and notwithstanding the requirements of 
TAN1 which advises that the housing land supply figure should be 
treated as a material consideration in determining applications, this is 
based on the proviso that the need to increase supply would 
otherwise comply with the development plan and national planning 
policies.

7.44 From the foregoing assessment of the context relating to the principle 
of this development, the proposal represents inappropriate 
development in the open countryside and outside the settlement 
boundary of Penyffordd and Penymynydd. Equally, given the 
significant Council and community concerns about the negative 
impact of such a scale of development on the cohesiveness of this 
community, this proposal does not represent a sustainable 
proposition. In these circumstances it is not considered that material 
weight can be attached to a lack of housing land supply, sufficient to 
outweigh the clear harm from this proposal, identified above.

7.45

7.46

Affordable Housing
Following discussions with Housing Strategy and the number and type 
of affordable housing required in the area, it is proposed that based on 
the provision of 186 dwellings, the site would provide;

For 20 affordable ownership – shared equity (managed through 
GRWP CYNEFIN HA) dwellings (10 x 2 beds and 10 x 3 beds) and 7 
which is equivalent to 21 affordable rent-gifted units to new homes (5 
x 2 bed houses and 2 x 3 bed houses) and a commuted sum payment 
of £450,000 which will be used as part of the SHARP programme to 
building social/council homes across Flintshire in areas of need.  
Penyffordd has been identified as an area of need for social/council 
housing.  This sum is equivalent to 14 units.  The total of units is 
equivalent to the 30% requirement of Policy HSG10 of the Adopted 
Flintshire UDP.  The units being provided on the site are pepper 
potted through the site and this is considered appropriate.

7.47 Public Open Space
The Public Open Space Manager advises that developments of this 
size to be in accordance with Local Planning Guidance Note 13 – 
Open Space Requirements, need to provide sports and recreation 
facilities in the form of a sports pitch measuring 100 m x 70 m together 
with play provision of an area not less than 10,000 sq metres 
equipped to a neighbourhood level and including a multi-use games 
area.  This play space should be located in one central location to be 
agreed by the Council.

Page 41



7.48 Local Planning Guidance Note 13 advises that for 100 – 200 
dwellings, a small-medium size sports facility is required together with 
standard requirement for recreation space (56 – 65 sq.m. per 
dwelling).  As the applicant is providing a multi-use games area 
together with 1, 17 ha of recreation space which is considered to be 
centrally located, the development is in accordance with the 
requirement of LPG Note 13.

7.49 Education Contribution

7.50

Pentrobin Primary School is the primary school which is in close 
proximity to the development.  The level of primary school pupils 
which are likely to be generated trigger a financial contribution 
requirement for the school.  However, as the school has no 
meaningful way in which to physically accommodate further pupils any 
financial contribution, no matter how large would not mean that 
Pentrobin would be capable of accommodating any new demand 
generated from the development.  The primary school age pupils 
would have to go to Penyffordd CP School, nearest Abbots Lane.

The calculations which underpin the education contributions are as 
follows;

Penyffordd CP School

186 dwellings x 0.24 = 44.64.  This equates to 45 pupils of primary 
school age which would be likely to result from the development.
The PLASC figures for Penyffordd Primary School at January 2017 is 
252. 

The Supplementary Planning Guidance requires that a contribution is 
triggered when occupation reaches within 5% of the schools total 
capacity.

The schools capacity is 259.  5% of 259 = 12.95 = 13. 
The 5% trigger for contributions is therefore 259 – 13 = 246
The contribution is worked out on the basis of the current PLASC 
figure + additional capacity from the development.  252 + 45 = 297.
Then 246, the 5% trigger point is subtracted from 297 – 246 = 51
The contribution for Penyffordd CP School would therefore be 51 x 
£12,257 = £625,107.00.

As the final calculation procedures a figure of 51 which cannot be 
required as it is greater than the need for 45 pupils that the 
development will produce the contribution required will be;

The Penyffordd Contribution is therefore 45 x £12,257.00 = £551,430.

Castell Alun High School is the nearest secondary school to the 
development.

Page 42



Castell Alun High School

186 dwellings x 0.174 = 32.36.  This equates to 32 pupils of 
secondary school age which would be likely to result from the 
development.
The PLASC figures for children at Castell Alun High School at January 
2017 is 1361.
The Supplementary Planning Guidance requires that a contribution is 
triggered when occupation reaches within 5% of the schools total 
capacity.
The schools capacity is 1240.  5% of 1240 = 62.
The 5% trigger for contributions is therefore 1240 – 62 = 1178:-
The contribution is worked out on the basis of the current PLASC 
figure + additional capacity from the development.  1361 + 32 = 1393.
Then 1178, the 5% trigger point is subtracted from 1394.  1393 - 1178 
= 215.

As the final calculation produces a figure of 215 which cannot be 
required as it is greater than the need for 32 pupils that the 
development will produce.

The Castell Alun High School contribution is therefore 32 x £18,469 = 
£591,008.  This will be spent on the technology curriculum areas.  The 
High School has already had five financial contributions.  However, 
only two have been for specific projects, therefore the Council can still 
request that this contribution be made for this project.

The amount and committed intention of spend would be in line with 
CIL regulations and considered acceptable.

7.51 Landscape & Visual Impact
The site is presently agricultural land within the open countryside 
adjacent to the North Eastern edge of the existing residential 
development of Penymynydd.  It is therefore important to assess the 
landscape and visual impact of the proposals.  The application is 
accompanied by a Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA).

7.52 This assessment concludes that on completion of the proposed 
development, there would be a moderate adverse significance of 
effect on the landscape character on site, and in the immediate vicinity 
of the site.  The proposed development would introduce prominent 
elements onto the site, altering the site from farmland to residential 
development with a suburban character.  However, the proposed 
development would form an extension to the existing built form of the 
village.  The design and scale of the proposed residential properties 
incorporating areas of open space with new tree planting, and the 
retention of mature trees and hedgerows on site and along site 
boundaries, would assist in integrating the site into the existing 
settlement edge, as well as within the wider landscape.

Page 43



7.53 After fifteen years, proposed tree planting would have matured, and 
new housing would be more established within the landscape, in the 
context of existing residential development at Penymynydd.  
Landscape effects would reduce overtime, although the significance of 
effect on the landscape would remain as moderate adverse.

7.54 This LVIA has been reviewed for the Council by an independent 
Landscape Architect who considers that the LVIA accurately assesses 
the likely landscape and visual effects on the whole, although these 
do not appear to have adequately taken winter effects into 
consideration apart from longer distant views to the South.

7.55 It concludes that the application site is fairly well contained and the 
local topography, existing development and vegetation would restrict 
potential views of the proposed development to close views.  The 
proposed development would extend the built form of the village 
further eastwards into the open countryside, but would be seen in the 
context of existing built form.  The strong framework of mature trees 
and hedgerows to the boundaries would help accommodate the 
proposal, creating a well-defined settlement edge.  It is considered 
that these boundaries could be further strengthened to be more 
effective, particularly in winter.

7.56 The character of the site would be altered from a pastoral landscape 
to suburban housing, resulting in moderate adverse effects on 
landscape character.  These effects would reduce slightly in time as 
the proposed planting matures.  The character of the bridleway to the 
North would also be affected by possible surfacing and lighting.

7.57 There would be major adverse visual effects for users of the public 
footpath crossing the site, the residents of Daisy Bank Farm and the 
properties overlooking the Western boundary.  Moderate effects would 
result for users passing Chester Road to the South of the site and for 
residents to the South East of Heritage Park.  Most other visual 
receptors would experience minor adverse visual effects.  There 
would also be some visual effects in winter due to lighting within an 
area that is mainly unlit at present.

7.58 The Landscape Architect recommended that the layout and landscape 
scheme be revised to reduce potential landscape and visual effects to 
include

 Reinforcement of hedgerows to all boundaries, increase tree 
planting and omit high close boarded fencing, replacing with 
less intrusive type.

 Proposals for hedgerow management.

 Omission/adjustment of plots to Eastern boundary.

Page 44



 Retention of public footpath crossing the site within public open 
space with a pedestrian link to the bridleway within linear open 
space following the line of mature oaks.

7.59 These recommendations have been addressed by the applicant 
through the receipt of amended plans and details apart from the 
pedestrian link to the bridleway within linear open space following the 
line of mature oaks.  This is provided, however, by two separate 
routes along the proposed road network, which is considered 
sufficient.  The Ecologists have agreed that the line of oaks should 
provide a corridor through the site for Great Crested Newts and 
should not be publicly accessible.

7.60 Whilst the development will have some adverse impact upon the 
landscape, the harm is not considered to have significant weight in the 
planning balance.

7.61 Ecology
The site consists of a series of fields with overgrown, thick species 
hedgerows with a large number of Oak trees.  It has been managed 
un-intensively as hay meadows, hence the overgrown hedges and 
semi improved grassland.  The site is 7.72 ha with approximately 2 km 
of hedgerow on site (including boundary hedges).  

7.62 There are no statutory or local sites present.

7.63 In relation to protected species and Great Crested Newts, there is one 
pond on site and a further three within a 250 m radius.  Amphibian 
surveys were carried out on the site pond in 2015 and no amphibians 
were recorded.  The two ponds to the north of the site are known to 
support breeding populations of Great Crested Newts.

7.64 There is good connectivity between the ponds to the north and the site 
itself through the bridleway, network of hedgerows on the site and un-
intensive grassland.

7.65 European Protected Species (EPS) and there breeding sites and 
resting places are protected under Regulation 41 of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (As Amended) and under 
Article 12 of the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in the United Kingdom.  
Plans or projects that could affect EPS must satisfy the appropriate 
Article 16 derogation and two mandatory tests.  Disturbance to an 
EPS whilst occupying a place of shelter and/or obstruction of access 
to a place of shelter are also prohibited under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended by the Countryside & Rights of 
Way Act 2000).  

7.66 The submitted Ecological Framework advises that the work on site will 
be undertaken using a combination of Reasonable Avoidance 

Page 45



Measures (RAMS) and licensing.  A Mitigation Licence will be required 
from NRW prior to works commencing.  Regulation 9 (1) and 9 (5) of 
the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (As 
Amended) requires public bodies in exercise of their functions (to 
ensure compliance with and to have regard to the provisions of the 
1992 ‘Habitats Directive’ (92/43/EEC).  Consequently the local 
planning authority decision making must be taken in accordance with 
the compliance of the Habitats Directive.  The local authority must be 
satisfied that a proposal satisfies the appropriate Article 16 derogation 
and two mandatory tests as part of the planning decision process.  
The need to consider this derogation is specifically identified in TAN5 
and Regulation 53 of the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2010.  In summary to obtain an NRW Derogation Licence 
the application needs to demonstrate public need, that there is no 
satisfactory alternative and that the favourable conservation status of 
the species will be maintained.  

7.67 In consideration of “Public Need”, it is considered that the proposals 
seek to establish the use of the site for the purposes of residential 
development.  The site does not lie within the identified settlement 
boundary of Penyffordd/Penymynydd within the Adopted Flintshire 
Unitary Development Plan.  National Planning Policies seek to direct 
the majority of new development of this form to within settlement 
boundaries.

7.68 Similarly, in consideration of “Satisfactory Alternatives”, the application 
site comprises an area of land which is not allocated for residential 
development, is located outside the settlement boundary for 
Penymyndd/Penyffordd and within open countryside as defined by the 
Adopted Flintshire Unitary Development Plan.  The applicant has not 
undertaken an assessment of alternative sites for residential 
development either within the village.

7.69 With regard to the test relating to the favourably conservation status of 
the GCN population the planning layout indicates that the majority of 
the hedgerows will be retained, protected and maintained as newt 
corridors.  Where hedgerows will need to be severed to provide road 
links, suitable means of passage for newts will be provided.  The 
applicant is also proposing to provide a compensatory payment of 
£20,000 towards off-site enhancement works.  This payment would be 
made to an agreed wildlife organisation which will be determined if 
planning permission is granted.

7.70 In considering the proposed mitigation measures, scheme of 
reasonable avoidance measures and management of the mitigation 
areas by a combination of conditions and a legal agreement, NRW 
and the local planning authority are satisfied that there will be no 
adverse effects upon the GCN population.  It is considered that these 
proposals will ensure that the favourable conservation status of the 
species, providing the habitat is secured and protected.  

Page 46



7.71 Other Protected Species
The bat activity survey recorded Pipistrelles, Brown Long Eared Bats 
and an occasional Lesser Horseshoe Bat foraging in and around the 
hedgerows.  No bat roosts were identified but the presence of foraging 
bats emphasises the value of the hedgerows as dark corridors.

7.72 The species rich hedgerows (LBAP priority habitat) are also of value 
in their own right and there are variety of red and amber listed nesting 
birds associated with the hedgerows and grassland, which include 
dunnock, yellowhammer and linnet.

7.73 With regard to hedgerow protection there are 19 hedgerows on site.  
Five hedgerows are classified as “Important” under the Regulations.  
All five are being retained, although two will be severed to allow the 
creation of the access and footways.

7.74 The retained hedgerows will be buffered and protected during the 
development with a stand-off zone designed to incorporate the root 
protection of the trees.  Heras fencing will be erected along the 
hedgerows.  A long term management plan will also be produced 
which will detail the on-going future management of all retained 
hedgerows on site and additional planting.

7.75 Also the loss of nesting habitat will be mitigated for by the 
implementation of a bird box mitigation scheme.

7.76 An ecological compliance audit would be required and it would have to 
be agreed with Flintshire County Council and NRW prior to the 
commencement of the development.  This would apply to all important 
ecological factors on site, including the bridleway which is an 
important wildlife corridor, with details on how this will be protected 
and include a lighting strategy to ensure this is maintained as a dark 
corridor.  The audit would also be a requirement of the application for 
the GCN mitigation licence.

7.77 Best & Most Versatile Agricultural Land
The question of the Agricultural Land Classification is examined with 
the submitted Desk Study and Ground Investigation Report.  This 
identifies that 100% of the farmed land and 97.2% of the site is Grade 
3, subgrade 3b.  This is moderate quality land capable of growing a 
limited range of crops.  The site is therefore not Best & Most Versatile 
agricultural land. 

7.78 Archaeology
An archaeological Desk Based Assessment has been submitted with 
the application which concludes that there is no direct evidence for 
Prehistoric Roman, Medieval or early Post Medieval activity on the 
site.  There are features dating to the later Post-Medieval period 
present on the site in the form of field boundaries and a former stone-

Page 47



7.79

built dwelling.  These archaeological assets are to be considered to be 
of low significance.

The Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust have been consulted on the 
application and this Assessment who advise that there are no 
archaeological implications for the development at this location.

7.80 Highways
The proposed vehicular access into the site is from a proposed new 
access onto Chester Road within part of the southern boundary.  The 
hedgerow to the west of the access would be retained along the 
frontage and a pedestrian footway will be provided.  The hedgerow to 
the east would be removed in order to gain visibility in this direction 
but would be replanted behind the splay.  Pedestrian footways are 
also proposed linking Footpath No. 8 into Hulleys Close, the site into 
Bridleway No. 24 to the North and the site into the existing footway at 
the end of Kent Close.

7.81 An amended Transport Assessment has been submitted by the 
applicant which advises that the development would be served by a 
priority junction on Chester Road and could benefit from a potential 
reduction in the speed limit from 60 mph to 30 mph.  The access 
arrangements have been designed to accommodate typical service 
vehicles associated with residential use.

7.82 It further advises that no off-site highway safety issues are expected 
to be introduced or exacerbated by the development proposals.  In 
addition, the traffic impact of the proposed development would have a 
minimal effect on the operation of the local highway network.  Junction 
capacity modelling of the site access junction and wider network has 
demonstrated that the highway network would generally operate 
within capacity with minimal queuing or delays.  Only the Chester 
Road/A5104 junction would experience any material levels of 
congestion, operating around capacity during the AM peak in 2022 
with queues of up to l6 vehicles during the busiest 15 minutes of the 
peak period, which is not an unacceptable level of queuing.

7.83 The Head of Highways Control raises no objections to these proposed 
works subject to conditions being imposed if planning permission were 
to be granted.  However, there remain objections to the scheme in 
that an appropriate system has not yet been identified to deal with the 
collection and disposal of highway surface water.  This is dealt with in 
the Drainage Section on surface water later in this report.

7.84 Public Right of Way & Bridleway
Footpath No. 8 crosses the site from the North-West direction to the 
South-East, linking to the residential areas to the west.  The amended 
layout plan now shows the footpath designed into the estate 
development.

Page 48



7.85 If permission is granted, there should therefore be no requirement for 
a public path diversion order as this has been incorporated into the 
design of the new development, however it is likely that a temporary 
closure order would be required for a large duration of the 
construction works.

7.86 It is considered that the visual significant effects of the development 
upon the users of the footpath have been reduced by the 
incorporation of the middle of the footpath within the proposed open 
space of the development, retention of trees and landscaping etc.

7.87 Public Bridleway No. 24 lies adjacent to the site beyond its northern 
boundary and part of the proposals is to provide a footpath link from 
the development onto the bridleway.

7.88 If planning permission were granted there may be a requirement from 
highways for this part of the bridleway to be surfaced and lighting 
installed for a cycleway.  However, this has not been incorporated into 
the development due to the conflict with horse riders and protection of 
bats using the hedgerows from the lighting.  

7.89

7.90

Drainage
Surface Water
NRW advise that the site lies within Zone A as defined in TAN15 
Development & Flood Risk (2004) and shown on Welsh Government’s 
Development Advice Map.  However, the development is likely to 
increase the surface area of impermeable ground, thus reducing 
percolation and increasing rapid surface run-off.  In accordance with 
Section 8 of TAN15, in all zones, development should not increase 
flood risk elsewhere.  Insufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate that a satisfactory/sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme can be provided for this proposed development.  The 
applicant states that these details could be further submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority if planning 
permission were granted as a condition.  However, it is considered 
that such a condition could not be attached to any permission as it 
could be impossible to implement for technical or legal reasons.

Sewerage
Following Welsh Water’s objection to the proposed development, the 
developer commissioned a Hydraulic Modelling Assessment which 
has now been completed.  The outcome of the Hydraulic Assessment 
identified that detriment to the local sewer network would be caused 
as a result of the new development connecting.  A number of options 
for sewer network reinforcement has been provided, the 
implementation of one of these options would enable the development 
to connect into the public sewer network without causing any 
detriment to the local community or environment.

7.91 These options have been identified and the developer has been made 

Page 49



fully aware of the cost of implementing these options, it is now 
considered reasonable for Welsh Water to revoke the objection 
previously raised and offer support for the application on the basis that 
the suggested conditions could be attached to any planning 
permission if granted.

7.92 Design & Impact Upon Amenity
The proposed design and layout of this scheme has been subject of 
negotiation and discussion over the course of both pre-application 
discussion and consideration of the application.

7.93 The proposed layout of the development has been designed around 
the existing hedgerows and trees which are located within and around 
the perimeter of the site together with the proposed public open space 
areas in the middle of the site.  Access to and from the site is via 
Chester Road and is achieved via a spine road and boulevard from 
which internal roads branch off from to serve the properties.  The site 
has a number of links to the existing developments and village 
facilities to the West.

7.94 The dwellings will be from Redrow’s heritage collection which have a 
traditional appearance and will be a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom 
detached, semi-detached and mews properties, all two storey in 
height.  The properties will be constructed within a mix of brick and 
render walls with a mix of grey and red tile roofs.

7.95 The layout also takes full account of the existing dwellings adjacent to 
the site by maintaining adequate separation distances, in line with 
Council guidance standards on space about dwellings and 
overlooking to secure privacy and amenity as well as respecting the 
private gardens of adjacent houses.

7.96 The density of development equates to approximately 24 dwellings 
per hectare.  This density being reflective of the rural nature of the 
site.  

7.97 The adjacent new development of Heritage Park equates to a density 
of 21 houses per hectare and the more established residential 
developments to the west being 22.5 houses per hectare and 23.5 per 
hectare respectively.

7.98 Accordingly and notwithstanding the representations made, it is 
considered that the proposals provide an adequate and appropriate 
response to the design issues raised in connection with the 
consideration of this application.

8.00
8.01

CONCLUSION
It is acknowledged that in terms of the principle of the development, in 
accordance with TAN1, that the Council is not able to demonstrate a 5 
year housing supply.  Also in accordance with TAN1, significant 

Page 50



weight can only be attached to this if the proposed development is 
otherwise complaint with local and national policies.  This is not the 
case with this application, particularly where it is considered that the 
development upon such a scale of this would have a significant 
detrimental impact upon the cohesiveness of the community and the 
principles of sustainable development.  

8.02 Many of the detailed matters of the application have been resolved 
apart from surface water management whereby insufficient details 
have been submitted to demonstrate that the site and its surroundings 
are not at the risk of flooding caused by the development.

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

Other Considerations
The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 
necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate aims 
of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty 
under the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.    

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Alan Wells
Telephone: (01352) 703255
Email: alan.wells@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



L
a
y
-b

y

WILLIAMS CL

CHESTER R
OAD

Ponds

L
O

W
E

R
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 R
O

A
D

Lay-
by

CLOSE

ST JOHNS

Path (um)

Track

Pond

MOUNT TABORCLOSE

PLEASANT VIEW

D
R

IV
E

GORSE CL

HULLEYS CL

W
E

L
L
 H

O
U

S
E

DARWEN DRIVE

LI
N
W

O
O

D
 C

L

KEN
T C

LO
SE

HAZEL DRIVE

CHESTER ROAD

38

46

Beaumont

83

37

73

19

2

26

8

25

7

1

1

6

Mast

3
0

2

1

1

3

4

11

3
7

18
14

2
8

3
5

20

14

10

7

9

10

30

2

29

8
5

1

26

28

27

2

52a

Daisy Bank Farm

3
4

2

2

6

4

44

1

1

4
2

3
6

3

7

2

7

52

5
3

7
3

6
5

5
9

4
5

2

El

2

Sub Sta

5
4

6

5
8

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:2500

SJ 3062

55590

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

PENYMYNYDD

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: 12TH APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: FULL APPLICATION – CHANGE OF USE FROM 
SEVEN BEDROOM DWELLING (CLASS C3) TO 
RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME (CLASS C2) FOR UP 
TO NINE ADULTS AT 93 WEPRE PARK, 
CONNAH’S QUAY.

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

056325

APPLICANT: CRAEGMOOR

SITE: 93 WEPRE PARK,
CONNAH’S QUAY.

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

9TH DECEMBER 2016

LOCAL MEMBERS: CLLR B DUNN

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL: CONNAHS QUAY

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE:

LOCAL MEMBER REQUEST

SITE VISIT: YES

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is a full application for the change of use from a dwelling house to 
a residential case home for up to 9 adults at 93 Wepre Drive, Connah’s 
Quay. The main issues are considered to be highways safety and 
residential amenity impact.

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6.2



SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:-

2.01 1. Time commencement.
2. In accordance with plans.
3. Permission time limited.
4. Windows in the side elevation to be obscurely glazed.
5. Details of the siting, layout and design of the means of site 

access to be agreed prior to commencement.
6. Existing access to be closed prior to use commencing.
7. Access to the site in accordance with standard detail.
8. Creation of a visibility splay prior to use commencing.
9. Adequate facilities for the loading, unloading, parking and 

turning of vehicles to be provided.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

3.01 Local Member 
Cllr Brian Dunn 

 Raised concerns over parking and safety issues on a very busy 
road.

 Impact on local residents.
 What conditions will be placed on this application regarding the 

clientele who will use this residential case home. Will this be 
restricted to people with autism and learning difficulties.

Connah’s Quay Town Council
Concerns about increased traffic in the area and the availability of 
parking for staff and visitors. Also concerns above the proposed 
change of use from residential to commercial in a predominantly 
residential area and the precedence this may set. It is also noted that 
a condition was place on the same property several years previously 
to retain its use as residential accommodation.

Highways Development Management 
No objection to the application subject to conditions.

Public Protection
No Objection 

Adult Community Services
No response at time of writing

Ecology
No response at time of writing

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Site Notice and Neighbour Notification
8no. letters of objection received following the first consultation and a 

Page 56



further no. 4 letters received following the second consultation raising 
the following concerns:

 Impact on highways safety.
 Impact on local residential if the site is used for an addiction 

rehabilitation centre.
 Possible antisocial behaviour and criminal activate associated 

with the potential residents. 
 Increased use of the site will further increase overlooking into 

private amenity space.
 Increased activity of the site will cause in increase in noise, 

pollution and dust.
 Public health risk if residential leave the site unsupervised or 

escape

5.00 SITE HISTORY

5.01 There is no relevant planning history.

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan
Policy STR1 – New Development
Policy STR2 – Transport and Communications
Policy GEN1 – General Requirements for Development
Policy GEN2 – Development Inside Settlement Boundaries
Policy D1 – Design Quality, Location and Layout
Policy AC13 – Access and Traffic Impact
Policy AC18 – Parking Provision and New Development
Policy CF2 – Development of New Facilities 

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

7.01

7.02

7.03

Proposal
This is a full application for the change of use from a dwelling house to 
a residential care home for up to 9 adults at 93 Wepre Drive, Connah’s 
Quay. The site is currently a dwellinghouse which can be lawfully used 
for up to six people living together as a single household and receiving 
care e.g. supported housing schemes such as those for people with 
learning disabilities or mental health problems. The impact of the 
proposal is therefore being assessed against the increase from 6 
adults to 9 adults. 

Site Description
The site is within the settlement of Connah’s Quay.  The frontage of 
the building is Wepre Drive with Wepre park to the east and south of 
the property and a residential property to the north. The existing 
dwelling house is of a substantial size with ample parking available to 
the front and a large garden to the rear. 

Principle of the Use

Page 57



7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

7.08

7.09

Whilst there are no specific policies contained within the Unitary 
Development Plan which expressly relate to the conversion of 
residential dwellings to care homes within settlement boundaries, 
Planning Policy CF2 states that the development of community 
facilities will be permitted on suitable sites within settlement 
boundaries, close to where people live and work. The facility is well 
located in terms of being accessible and only shares one boundary 
with a residential property. I consider the proposals comply with the 
principle of these policies and is therefore acceptable in principle.

Visual Impact
There are no external alterations proposed in this application.

Highways Safety 
The proposal allows for 9 parking spaces off the road with turning 
facilities provided within the site. There is also ample space for an 
ambulance to park off the road if required. The proposal meets with 
the Councils maximum parking requirements. 

The proposed alterations to the access are considered acceptable 
subject to a number of conditions outlined above and that applicant’s 
attention is drawn to the Highways Supplementary Guidance Note.

Residential Amenity Impact
Concerns have been raised regarding the possible uses which could 
be undertaken at the site if planning permission is granted for a care 
facility. Such a use falls within Class C2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 which provides for residential 
accommodation for people in need of care. Care is defined within the 
use class order as meaning; ' Personal care for people in need of such 
care by reason of old age. disablement, past or present dependence 
on alcohol or drugs or past or present mental disorder and in Class C2 
also includes the personal care of children and medical care and 
treatment.' 

In order to assist with this this matter the applicants have submitted a 
statement outlining the proposed use of the site. The applicant’s state 
that the residents of the proposed small care home will be adults with 
learning disabilities and/or autism. The site will offer residential care 
and support to them in an environment that will operate essentially like 
a large family home.  The number of residents and nature of the 
proposed care facility will be controlled by a condition ensuring that the 
site does not change to any other use which falls within use class C2 
without further consent.

A number of existing windows in the side elevation of the building 
overlook the private amenity space of the neighbouring property. The 
proposed use will increase the level of activity in the in building and 
therefore further increase the possibility for overlooking. A condition 
will be included to require these windows to be obscurely glazed to 

Page 58



7.10

protect the private amenity space of the neighbouring property.   

Accordingly, it is considered that the impact of the proposal upon 
adjoining amenity and safety will be no greater than that which 
presently exists.

8.00

8.01

CONCLUSION

The proposed development is considered acceptable in principle, with 
the impact on residential amenity and highways safety being dealt with 
via the conditions outlined above. According the application is 
recommended for approval.

8.02 Other Considerations

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 
necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate aims 
of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty under 
the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.    

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Mr Daniel McVey
Telephone: 01352 703266
Email:                        Daniel.McVey@flintshire.gov.uk

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



M
A
R

LO
W

E
 A

V
E
N

U
E

H
E

N
L
E

Y
 A

V
E

N
U

E

PARK GROVE

/ Nant Gwepra

Wepre Brook

Issues

1
3

1

2

96

96a

75

94

98

91

87

93

1

1
2

1
12

110

101

103

120

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:1250

SJ 2968

56325

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

CONNAH'S QUAY

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: 12TH APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: FULL APPLICATION – AMENDMENTS TO 
PLANNING PERMISSION 050293 INCLUDING 
MICROBREWERY, INTERNAL CHANGES, 
OUTSIDE WALLS AND GARAGE AT POACHERS 
COTTAGE INN, HIGH STREET, FFRITH.

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

056257

APPLICANT: MR. JOE BANCROFT

SITE: POACHERS COTTAGE INN,
HIGH STREET, FFRITH.

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

10TH JANUARY 2017

LOCAL MEMBERS: CLLR H ISHERWOOD

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL: LLANFYNYDD

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE: LOCAL MEMBER REQUEST 

SITE VISIT: YES

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is a full application for a number of amendments to planning 
permission 050293 including microbrewery, internal changes, outside 
walls and garage. The main issues are considered to be impact on 
highways safety, visual amenity and residential amenity. 

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6.3



SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:-

2.01 1. Time commencement
2. In accordance with plans
3. Opening Hours
4. Submissions of material samples
5. Submission of extraction system
6. Restriction on the erection of gates
7. Watching Brief

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

3.01 Local Member
Hillary Isherwood – Request that the application is determined by the 
planning committee.

Town/Community Council
Objections to the proposal on the following grounds:

 Location of the garage and associated parking
 Noise levels of equipment
 No residential parking listed
 Parking insufficient

Highways Development Management
No objection subject to conditions

Public Protection
No objection to the proposal 

Natural Resources Wales
No objection 

Airbus
No Objection

Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust
No objection subject to conditions 

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Site Notice and Neighbour Notification
Two letters of objection has been received in response to the 
publicity. The letters raise the following concerns:

 Highways safety 
 Noise impact of the equipment
 Smell of microbrewery
 Overdevelopment of the site
 Use would require further parking to make it viable.

Page 64



 Outside lighting has negative impact on the village.

5.00

5.01

SITE HISTORY

The site has been subject to the following relevant planning 
applications:

052037 – Temporary siting of a caravan -  Approved 24th July 2014

051573 – Temporary siting of residential touring caravan and 
construction of river terrace.  Refused 6th March 2014    

050293 - Change of use from public house/restaurant to coffee shop, 
village store, hostel and living accommodation including erection of 
glass entrance hall and extension to kitchen to form garage – 
Approved 23rd April 2013

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan 
Policy STR1 – New Development
Policy GEN1 – General Requirements for Development
Policy GEN2 – Development Inside Settlement boundaries 
Policy S4 – Small Scale Shopping Within Settlements
Policy S11 – Retention of Local Facilities
Policy D1 – Design Quality
Policy D2 – Location and Layout
Policy D3 – Design
Policy AC13 – Access and Traffic Impact
Policy HSG3 – Housing on Unallocated Sites within Settlement 
Boundaries
Policy CF1 – Retention of Existing Facilities
Policy T3 – Self Catering Tourist Accommodation 
Policy EWP17 – Flood Risk

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

7.01

7.02

Proposal 
This application is for a number of amendments to planning 
permission 050293 including microbrewery, external changes, 
outside walls and erection of a garage. The previously approved 
scheme was for the change of use of the former Poachers Cottage 
Inn to a café, village store, hostel and dwelling.  

The proposed works have required the building to be renovated 
following the public house ceasing to operate in 2009 and a fire which 
caused significant damage to the building.

Page 65



7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

7.08

Site Description
The site is within the village of Ffrith.  The frontage of the building is 
directly on the High Street with a steeply rising bank to the rear of the 
property and proposed garage located on Cymau Lane beyond it.  
There are 2 parcels of land to the north and east of the site which are 
proposed to be used as patio area and an area of land to the south 
of the building and across the road from the pub off Lime Street which 
would be used as parking areas.  The River Cegidog runs to the south 
of one of these additional parcels of land.  Offa’s Dyke passes through 
the village of Ffrith. 

Principle of the Use 
The proposed development is for a mix of uses, namely a café, shop, 
dwelling, youth hostel and microbrewery in a building that was 
formally a public house with manager’s accommodation. Change of 
use of the public house has been previously considered acceptable 
and in compliance with planning policy. 
 
Policy S11 requires the retention of local facilities such as public 
houses unless similar facilities exist in the village which are equally 
as accessible.  In this case the site has planning permission for the 
change of use to another use; a shop and café which would fall within 
the definition of a local facility which would perform a social and 
economic role. In order to support these types of community facilities 
it is important for business owners to diversify the services they offer. 
It is therefore considered that the proposed microbrewery would be 
acceptable in principle.

Visual Impact
The application proposes a small number of changes to the previous 
approved plans along with the erection of a garage on land accepted 
via Cymau Lane. The proposed garage is set back from the roads by 
approximately 5m and is a flat roof structure with space for up to two 
vehicles inside. A number of air conditionings units are proposed 
adjacent to the garage which will be surrounded by a brick wall. Due 
to its location, set back from the road, and its design, it does not have 
any significant impact on the visual amenity of the area. 

The application also proposes a number of amendments to the 
previously approved building. These consist of the insertion of two 
wider glazed openings in the front elevation to allow disabled access, 
a number of dormer style roof alterations to the front and rear 
elevation, and the insertion of 11 roof lights on the rear roof 
elevations. 

It is considered that these alterations are not significantly different 
from the approved plans and do not cause any further impact on 
visual or residential amenity.

Page 66



7.09

7.10

Highways Safety 
The application proposes an improved access off Cymau Lane to 
provide 4no. further parking spaces along with the utilisation of the 
existing car park accessed off the High Street for both the previously 
approved uses and the proposed microbrewery use. The Highways 
Development Control Manager has raised no objection to the 
proposal subject to a condition ensuring that no gates are erected at 
the access off Cymau Lane.

Flood Risk
The site lies partially within a C2 Flood Risk zone as defined in TAN15 
referred to under the Development Advice Maps.  The Environment 
Agency however advise that given the scale of the development that 
the risk could be suitably managed as long as the developer is aware 
of the potential flood risks and is advised to install flood proofing 
measures. This will be done though an advisory note on any 
permission.

8.00

8.01

CONCLUSION

The proposed development is considered acceptable in principle, with 
the impact on residential amenity and highways safety being dealt 
with via the conditions outlined above. According the application is 
recommended for approval

8.02 Other Considerations

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 
necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate 
aims of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty 
under the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.  

  

Page 67



LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Daniel McVey
Telephone: 01352 703266
Email:                         Daniel.McVey@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 68

mailto:Daniel.McVey@flintshire.gov.uk


C
E

G
ID

O
G

 A
V

E
N

U
E

R
O

A
D

Ffrith

ROAD

V
A
LL

E
Y

CYMAU

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LIME STREET
Nans Brook Cottage

Rock Cottage

N
a
n
t-

y-

T
a
n
g
le

w
o
o
d

6

4

C
o
e
d

Ty Cerrig

Ash Tree

Pencader

Rosewood

Bod Awel

Chapel

3

Rhos Newydd

4

1

Terr

1

The Hollies

Gorffwysfa

Glyndwr

Glan Aber

Bryn Onnen

Alyndale

Ashgrove

3

1

Bell

2

1

The Glen

Central Court

2

Stores
Terr
Cottages

The Bluebell

2

Croft

1

Arosfa

1

LB

TCB

1

Carmel

Villa

2

Dolafon
Bell Mount

Collina

Oriel

Bridgewater House

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:1250

SJ 2855

56257

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

FFRITH

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: 12TH APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: FULL APPLICATION – ERECTION OF 1 NO. 
DWELLING AT THE OLD STACKYARD, 
BRETTON COURT MEWS, BRETTON

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

056542

APPLICANT: MR. S. PATTON

SITE: THE OLD STACKYARD,
BRETTON COURT MEWS, BRETTON

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

7TH FEBRUARY 2017

LOCAL MEMBERS: COUNCILLOR W MULLIN

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL: BROUGHTON AND BRETTON 

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE:

DEPARTURE FROM THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

SITE VISIT: NO

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is an application for full planning permission for the erection of a 
four bedroom detached two storey dwelling with attached single 
storey garage and workshop.  The land has been certified as being 
lawfully part of the garden and driveway forming residential curtilage 
to the Old Stackyard issued on 22nd June 2010.  

1.02 The application site is located in the open countryside, outside any 
recognised settlement boundary in the adopted Flintshire Unitary 
Development Plan, where there is generally a presumption against 
new development.

Page 71

Agenda Item 6.4



1.03 While this site is outside any defined settlement boundary it is 
considered that it is a highly sustainable location and is well related 
to the pattern of development, nearby settlements and other major 
developments. It is in close proximity to the settlements of Bretton, 
Broughton and the retail park which provide a range of facilities and 
public transport services.  It is therefore considered that the lack of a 
5 year land supply and the sustainability of the site outweigh the fact 
that the site is located in the open countryside.  The proposal is 
therefore in accordance with both PPW and TAN 1. 

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, 
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:-

2.01 1. Time commencement 2 years
2. Plans 
3. Materials
4. Drainage
5. Means of access to be construction by the required 

specification for a vehicular footway crossing
6. Boundary treatment and landscaping 

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

3.01 Local Member
Councillor W Mullin
No response received at time of writing. 

Broughton and Bretton Community Council
No objection.

Highways Development Control Manager
No objection subject to a condition requiring the means of access to 
be construction by the required specification for a vehicular footway 
crossing. 

Public Protection Manager
No adverse comments to make. 

Welsh Water/Dwr Cymru
The applicant proposes to use an alternative to mains drains and no 
connection to the mains drains is proposed. 

Airbus
No aerodrome safeguarding objection.  

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Press Notice, Site Notice and  Neighbour Notification
No responses received. 

Page 72



5.00 SITE HISTORY

5.01 046671 
Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for an existing use 
of land as residential curtilage.  Approved 22.06.10.

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan 
STR1 – New Development 
STR4 – Housing 
GEN3 – Development Outside Settlement Boundaries
HSG4 – New Dwellings Outside Settlement Boundaries 
HSG5 – Limited Infill Development Outside Settlement Boundaries
GEN1 - General Requirements for New Development
D1 - Design Quality, Location and Layout
D2 - Design
D3 - Landscaping
WB1 - Species Protection
AC13 - Access and Traffic Impact
AC18 - Parking Provision and New Development
TWH2 – Protection of Hedgerows
AC2 – Pedestrian Provision and Public Rights of Way
AC3 – Cycling Provision

Planning Policy Wales Edition 9 November 2016
Technical Advice Note 1 Joint Housing Availability Studies 2015

The compliance with policy is set out in detail below. 

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

7.01 Introduction
This is a full planning application for the erection of 1 dwelling on land 
at the Old Stack Yard, Bretton Road, Bretton.  

7.02 Site Description
The application site forms part of the side garden to the dwelling 
known as the Old Stackyard which is part of Bretton Court Mews 
which is accessed from Bretton Road.  Brettton Court Mews is a 
series of two storey dwellings from subdivision of the original farm 
house and barn conversions into 8 dwellings in the late 1980’s. The 
Old Stackyard is located to the east of the application site and there 
is a row of garage buildings to the west of the dwellings which form 
the eastern boundary of the application site.  

7.03 The site is bounded to the north by Bretton Road beyond which lies 
Broughton Shopping Park.  There is a footpath link opposite the site 
into the shopping park.  

Page 73



7.04 The application site has a number of domestic outbuildings and is 
used as a garden to the adjacent dwelling.  To its western boundary 
is agricultural land.   Beyond the agricultural land approximately 150m 
to the south east is the A55.

7.05 Proposed development
It is proposed to erect a four bedroom detached two storey dwelling 
with attached single storey garage and workshop. The proposed 
dwelling has a slate roof with facing brickwork to be agreed and 
powder coated aluminium windows.  The dwelling would be served 
by a new vehicular access with turning area. 

7.06 Principle of Development 
The land has been certified as being lawfully part of the garden and 
driveway forming residential curtilage to the Old Stackyard issued on 
22nd June 2010.  

7.07 The application site is located in the open countryside, outside any 
recognised settlement boundary in the adopted Flintshire Unitary 
Development Plan, where there is generally a presumption against 
new development. The whole complex of development at Bretton 
Court Mews is outside the settlement boundary but is approximately 
80 metres away from it to the east.  Bretton and the complex of 
development at Bretton Court Mews is surrounded by the green 
barrier to the south and west.  The out of town Broughton retail park 
development is opposite the site.  The settlement boundary of 
Broughton is approximately 150 metres to the west.  

7.08 Although the UDP Plan period expired at the end of 2015, it still 
remains the development plan until the LDP is adopted and will 
therefore continue to be afforded weight, subject to its policies and 
proposals remaining in general conformity with guidance in 
PPW/TAN’s.

7.09 In terms of the policies in the adopted UDP, policy GEN3 sets out 
those instances where housing development may take place outside 
of settlement boundaries. The range of housing development 
includes new rural enterprise dwellings, replacement dwellings, 
residential conversions, infill development and rural exceptions 
schemes which are on the edge of settlements where the 
development is wholly for affordable housing. Policy GEN3 is then 
supplemented by detailed policies in the Housing Chapter on each 
type.  The proposed development does not fall within or is justified to 
fall with any of those categories.  

7.10 The dwelling is proposed in the context of the lack of a 5 year land 
supply and it’s siting within a sustainable location.  A statement 
justifying it in relation to the Council’s Guidance note on Speculative 
Housing Development has been submitted.

Page 74



7.11 TAN1 and PPW
It is acknowledged that, on the basis of the residual method of 
calculating housing land supply, the Council has a 3.7 year supply as 
at April 2014 which represents a decrease from the previous figure of 
4.1 years. In the light of guidance in PPW and TAN1 it is accepted 
that there is a need to increase housing land supply through 
considering applications for appropriate sustainable development.  

7.12 Welsh Government Technical Advice Note 1 states that “The housing 
land supply figure should also be treated as a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications for housing. 
Where the current land supply shows a land supply below the 5 year 
requirement or where the local planning authority has been unable to 
undertake a study….. The need to increase supply should be given 
considerable weight when dealing with planning applications provided 
that the development would otherwise comply with the development 
plan and national planning policies.”

7.13 It is clear from national planning guidance that considerable weight 
should be attached to the lack of a 5 year housing land as a material 
planning consideration. Furthermore, decisions must also be made in 
the context of the Welsh Governments ‘presumption in favour of 
sustainable development’. 

7.14 Welsh Government Advice and National Planning Policy Planning 
Policy Wales Edition 9 paragraph 4.2.2 states “The planning system 
provides for a presumption in favour of sustainable development to 
ensure that social, economic and environmental issues are balanced 
and integrated, at the same time,” when taking decision on planning 
applications.”

7.15 Planning Policy Wales Edition 9 paragraph 4.2.4 states “A plan led 
approach is the most effective way to secure sustainable 
development through the planning system and it is important that 
plans are adopted and kept regularly under review. Legislation 
secures a presumption in favour of development in accordance with 
the development plan for the area unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise (see 3.1.2) Where;

 There is no adopted development plan (see 2.6) or
 The relevant development plan policies are considered 

outdated or superseded (see 2.7) or
 Where there are no relevant policies (see 2.7)

there is a presumption in favour of proposal in accordance with the 
key principles (see 4.3) and key policy objectives (see 4.4) of 
sustainable development in the planning system. In doing so, 
proposals should seek to balance and integrate these objectives to 
maximise sustainable development outcomes.”

7.16 Paragraph 4.2.5 states “In taking decisions on individual planning 
applications it is the responsibility of the decision-maker to judge 

Page 75



whether this is the case using all available evidence, taking into 
account the key principles (see 4.3) and policy objectives (see 4,4) of 
planning for sustainable development. In such case the local planning 
authority must clearly state the reasons for the decision.”

7.17 Sustainable development and capacity of the settlement  
In the adopted Flintshire Unitary Development Plan, Bretton is 
classified as a Category C settlement which is defined as a small 
village, with an indicative growth of up to 10% during the plan period 
of 2000 - 2015.  Bretton achieved a growth of 1.8% from two 
completions.   Broughton is a Category B settlement and achieved a 
growth of 18.4% over the plan period although more sites have come 
forward since then.

7.18 The site is located outside the settlements of both Bretton and 
Broughton.  Bretton is approximately 80 metres to the east and 
Broughton is 150 metres to the west.  To the north of the site is 
Broughton retail park, which is about 150 metres away.  There is a 
footpath link from Bretton Road to the park making the site easily 
accessible on foot to all of the facilities at the Park. The Park has a 
variety of both food and other non- food stores along with a pharmacy.  
There are also employment and leisure opportunities in the form of 
restaurants and a cinema.   There is also access to public transport 
options from the retail park from the bus interchange facilities which 
serve areas both within and outside Flintshire on a regular basis. 

7.19 Para 4.7.8 of PPW states ‘development in the countryside should be 
located within and adjoining those settlements where it can best be 
accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access and habitat and 
landscape conservation…new building in the open countryside away 
from existing settlements or areas allocated for development in 
development plans must continue to be strictly controlled’. 

7.20 It is considered that the proposal does meet this element of national 
planning guidance as it is directly adjacent to the settlement of Bretton 
and is well served in terms of infrastructure and access. As the site is 
established garden there is minimal impact on habitat or landscape 
features.  It is therefore considered that this is a sustainable site. 

7.21 Impact on the character of the area
The site has a certificate of lawful use as a garden and residential 
curtilage in association with the Old Stackyard.  This benefits from 
permitted development rights therefore as residential curtilage and 
can be used for a range of domestic paraphilia.     The proposed site 
is in the open countryside and is surrounded by the green barrier to 
the west and south.  In this context there is therefore no opportunity 
for further development around this site.  A condition can be imposed 
for details of boundary treatment in order to provide a defensible 
boundary.  

Page 76



7.22 Design 
The dwelling is two storey with an attached single storey garage and 
workshop.  This element of the building would be closest to the road.  
The proposed dwelling is brick with a slate roof which would be in 
keeping with the adjacent Bretton Mews development.  The adjacent 
housing complex is a single building which is subdivided into 
individual dwellings. It is therefore considered that the design and 
scale and form of the proposed dwelling is acceptable in this context.  

8.00 CONCLUSION

8.01

8.02

While this site is outside any defined settlement boundary it is 
considered that it is a highly sustainable location and is well related 
to the pattern of development, nearby settlements and other major 
developments. It is in close proximity to the settlements of Bretton, 
Broughton and the retail park which provide a range of facilities and 
public transport services.  It is therefore considered that the lack of a 
5 year land supply and the sustainability of the site outweigh the fact 
that the site is located in the open countryside.  The proposal 
therefore is in accordance with both PPW and TAN 1. 

Other Considerations
The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 
necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate 
aims of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty 
under the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.    

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Emma Hancock
Telephone: (01352) 703254
Email: emma.hancock@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



BRETTON ROAD

El S
ub S

ta

3

The Old
Stackyard

4

1
Bretton Court Mews

7

8

6

2
5

El Sub Sta El Sub Sta

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:1250

SJ 3563

56542

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

BRETTON

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Caravan Site

Track

B
R

E
T
T
O

N
 L

A
N

E

CattleGrid

T
ra

ck

El

Sub

Sta

Drain

Beds

Sludge

Pond

Pond

D
rain

Pond

Pond

Bretton

BRETTON ROAD

Pond

Ponds

D
ra

in

A 5104

Track

Drain

Drain

Track
Ponds

Ponds

Ponds

T
ra

ck

Ponds

CG

Drain

El S
ub S

ta

A 55

Ponds

Ponds

/

S
IM

O
N

S
T
O

N
E

 R
O

A
D

ELLESMERE AVENUE

LA
R

N
E

 D
R

IV
E

El Sub Sta

Posts

C
L

O
S

M
E

S
S

H
A

M
 /

M
E

S
S

H
A

M
 C

LO
S

E

M
E

S
S

H
A

M
 C

LO
S

E

R
O

B
IN

S
C

O
U

R
T

ROAD

CWRT ROBINS

FFORD LONG / LONG

M
E
M

O
R

IA
L C

LO
S
E

/

Play Area

C
L
O

S

LO^N WHITLEY

W
H
ITLEY

D
R

IV
E

M
E

S
S

H
A

M
 /

ROAD

CHESTER

El

Sub Sta

ESS

C
LO

S
 C

O
F
F

A
 /

5

3
4

9

1

1

6
3

15

2

7

2
4

45

6 to 11

12 to 18

5
1

10
65

1

61

41

5
5

47

4
3

5
3

3
1

4
9

5
7

3
5

92

88

90

14

1
0
0

98

21

11

1

3

The Old

Stackyard

Hills

Elms

Farm

Barndale

Slurry Bed
Far

Elms
Cottage

Hawthorn

Wyvern

The

Leaside

Cott

Bretton

Cottage

Carlton Cottage
4

1 Bretton Court Mews

7

8

6

2
5

Elmsleigh

1

3

4

2

The Bungalows

The Brackens

Digby Farm

N
es

sc
lif

fe

The Coppins

Digby Cottage
Church

Merlin

Appleby

Cottage

Laburnum
Clematis Cottage

Bretton House Farm

Bali Hai

Caer Fedwen

TallTrees

Shawmouth

Helvelyn

Springfield Farm

The Laurels

Oakdale

The Cottage

Silver Lea

Old Mill House

Catchpenny Cottage

Alyston

Rhydonen

The Farm

The Croft

Lyngreen

Rydal

The Orchard

Overton

Nutshell

Hawthorns

El Sub Sta

Rose Cottage

Cottage

1
2

Glynne

Filling Station

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

Broughton Shopping Park

PH

Mill House

Inn

Shelters

El Sub Sta

Cinema

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta El Sub Sta

Conveyor

35

3
9

2
6

43

2
0

3
1

22

3
8

Willow

28

Elm Gable

Elm Bank

ESS

House

12

2
2

1

1
1

23

15

1

8

19

1
0

2

1

20

4
3

28

22

29

7

8

2
4

20

2
2

3
9

2
4

3
1

23

3
4

45

33

Ppg Sta

8

15

23

29

1

4

1
1

1
5

1
1

2

1

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:5000

SJ 3563

56542

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

BRETTON

BROUGHTON

A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104
A5104

A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55A55

GREEN BARRIER

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 12 APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF 1 
NO. DWELLING AT CROFTERS COTTAGE, 
DEESIDE LANE, SEALAND.

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

056318

APPLICANT: MR. & MRS J. HARLEY

SITE: CROFTERS COTTAGE,
DEESIDE, LANE, SEALAND.

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

17TH JANUARY 2017

LOCAL MEMBERS: COUNCILLOR C JONES

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL: SEALAND

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE:

DEPARTURE AND LOCAL MEMBER REQUEST AS 
SITE IS IN THE GREEN BARRIER 

SITE VISIT: NO

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is an outline planning application with all matters reserved for the 
erection of 1 dwelling on land adjacent to Crofters Cottage, Deeside 
Lane, Sealand.   

1.02 The proposed development is new housing development in the open 
countryside and would constitute inappropriate development in the 
green barrier.  No evidence of any identified local housing need for the 
development has been put forward and therefore there are no 
exceptional circumstances to outweigh the harm from inappropriate 
development in the green barrier.  Furthermore the application site is 
in an unsustainable location and therefore contrary to national policy 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6.5



guidance. 

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR 
THE FOLLOWING REASONS

2.01 1. The proposal constitutes new housing development in the open 
countryside and in the green barrier remote from any 
settlement.  The proposed development is inappropriate 
development in the green barrier and no exceptional 
circumstances have been demonstrated. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policies STR1, STR4, GEN3, GEN4 and 
HSG5 of the Flintshire Unitary Development Plan and Planning 
Policy Wales Edition 9. 

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

3.01 Local Member
Councillor C Jones
Requests Committee determination as the site is in the green barrier. 

Sealand Community Council
No objections. 

Development Control Manager
The proposal has an access from Deeside Lane which is not part of 
the adopted highway network.  No objection. 

Public Protection Manager 
No adverse comments to make. 

Welsh Water/DwrCymru
There are no public sewers in the vicinity of the site.  Condition for a 
drainage scheme. 

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Press Notice, Site Notice, Neighbour Notification
No responses received. 

5.00 SITE HISTORY

5.01 051652 
Change of use to 3no. new holiday accommodation units 
Undetermined. 

051333 
Change of use of existing building into 3no. self-serviced holiday 
accommodation units. Withdrawn 06.12.13

043876 

Page 84



Conversion of part of agricultural building to provide a dwelling for 
holiday accommodation Withdrawn 27.05.08

042613 
Certificate of Lawfulness section 191 application- Private dwelling for 
residential purposes Closed 17.12.08

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan 
STR1 - New Development
STR4 - Housing
GEN1 - General Requirements for New Development
GEN3 - Development Outside Settlement Boundaries
GEN4 – Green Barriers
D1 - Design Quality, Location and Layout
AC13 - Access and Traffic Impact
AC18 - Parking Provision and New Development
HSG4 – New Dwellings Outside Settlement Boundaries
HSG5 – Limited Infill Development Outside Settlement Boundaries

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 9 November 2016
Technical Advice Note 1 Joint Housing Availability Studies

The assessment of the proposal against the policies is set out below. 

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

7.01 Introduction
This is an outline planning application with all matters reserved for the 
erection of 1 dwelling on land adjacent to Crofters Cottage, Deeside 
Lane, Sealand.  

7.02 Site description
The application site forms part of the side garden to the dwelling 
known as Crofters Cottage.  Crofters Cottage is a two storey dwelling 
located to the rear of the plot on its southern boundary.  To the west of 
the dwelling is a single storey stable block.  To the north of the 
dwelling is a large brick built outbuilding.  To the west is a large scale 
agricultural building.  

7.03 The application site includes the existing access to the dwelling.  It is 
fronted to the north by an established hedge along its boundary with 
Deeside Lane, to the east by a group of dwellings known as 1 – 8 Old 
Farm Cottages.  Its boundary is demarcated by a post and rail fence.  
Part of the site is a hardstanding and the rest is laid to lawn with 
domestic buildings such as a greenhouse, brick built outbuildings and 
a trampoline.   The eastern boundary is an existing brick wall. 

Page 85



7.04 Proposed development
It is proposed to erect a detached dwelling.  This is an outline 
application with all matters reserved.  The indicative plan illustrates 
the dwelling sharing the access and driveway with Crofters Cottage. 
This is an outline application so no detail has been provided except 
that the parameters would be between 7 – 12 metres in width, 5- 13 
metres in length and 6-7 metres in height. 

7.05 Principle of Development 
The application site is located in the open countryside, outside any 
recognised settlement boundary in the adopted Flintshire Unitary 
Development Plan, where there is generally a presumption against 
new development.   The site is also within the green barrier 
designated under Policy GEN4 of the Flintshire Unitary Development 
Plan. 

7.06 Although the UDP Plan period became time-expired at the end of 
2015, it will still remain the development plan until the LDP is adopted 
and will therefore continue to be afforded weight, subject to its policies 
and proposals remaining in general conformity with guidance in 
PPW/TAN’s. 

7.07 In terms of the policies in the adopted UDP, policy GEN3 sets out 
those instances where housing development may take place outside 
of settlement boundaries. The range of housing development includes 
new rural enterprise dwellings, replacement dwellings, residential 
conversions, infill development and rural exceptions schemes which 
are on the edge of settlements where the development is wholly for 
affordable housing. Policy GEN3 is then supplemented by detailed 
policies in the Housing Chapter on each type. 

7.08 Policy GEN4 sets out the designated green barriers in the plan area.  
This only permits development within these areas for specific 
circumstances.  The only form of new housing development permitted 
in green barriers is criteria d) limited housing infill development to 
meet proven local housing need or affordable housing exceptions 
schemes provided that it would not contribute to the coalescence of 
settlements and unacceptably harm the open character and 
appearance of the green barrier. 

7.09 PPW provides guidance on green wedges or barriers and Policy 
GEN4 of the UDP is generally in conformity with that advice. There is 
one slight difference in that the GEN4 does not specifically use the 
term inappropriate development. Nevertheless the UDP Inspector 
approved the present wording of GEN4 and when read alongside the 
guidance in PPW, provides a clear position in respect of green 
barriers. Housing development, in the form proposed, does not form 
one of the types of development that can be permitted in a green 
barrier and therefore, by definition, the development being proposed 
here must be treated as ‘inappropriate development’. Paragraph 

Page 86



4.8.15 of PPW states that inappropriate development should not be 
granted planning permission except in exceptional circumstances 
where other considerations clearly outweigh the harm which such 
development would do to the Green Barrier.

7.10 Policy HSG5 infill permits development provided that it meets a 
proven local need and meets the criteria of the policy.  In this case no 
evidence has been put forward to demonstrate that there is a local 
need which this dwelling would satisfy.  Furthermore it is not 
considered that the proposal meets with the remainder of the policy.

7.11 Criterion a of the policy states development may be permitted if it 
“comprises a small gap within a clearly identifiable group of houses 
within a continuously developed frontage”.   While there is a group of 
houses adjacent forming the Old Cottages, the pattern of development 
is such that the adjacent cottages run in a row north to south away 
from the road with a further dwelling to the east.  To the west of the 
site is an industrial unit associated with the agricultural use of the 
surrounding fields. The dwelling of Crofters Cottage is set back form 
the road and it is outbuildings which are further forward within the site.   
It is therefore considered that there is not a “continuously developed 
frontage” and there is not “a small gap within a clearly identifiable 
group of houses”. 

7.12 In this case the site is also within the green barrier. No evidence of 
any identified local housing need for the development has been put 
forward and therefore there are no exceptional circumstances to 
outweigh the harm from inappropriate development in the green 
barrier.   It does not meet the requirements of the infill policy and it 
would unacceptably harm the open character and appearance of the 
green barrier.

7.13

7.14

TAN1 and PPW
It is acknowledged that, on the basis of the residual method of 
calculating housing land supply, the Council has a 3.7 year supply as 
at April 2014 which represents a decrease from the previous figure of 
4.1 years. In the light of guidance in PPW and TAN1 it is accepted 
that there is a need to increase land supply through considering 
applications for appropriate sustainable development.  

Welsh Government Technical Advice Note 1 states that “The housing 
land supply figure should also be treated as a material planning 
consideration in determining planning applications for housing. Where 
the current land supply shows a land supply below the 5 year 
requirement or where the local planning authority has been unable to 
undertake a study….. The need to increase supply should be given 
considerable weight when dealing with planning applications provided 
that the development would otherwise comply with the development 
plan and national planning policies.”

Page 87



7.15

7.16

7.17

It is clear from national planning guidance that considerable weight 
should be attached to the lack of a 5 year housing land as a material 
planning consideration. Furthermore, decisions must also be made in 
the context of the Welsh Governments ‘presumption in favour of 
sustainable development’. 

Welsh Government Advice and National Planning Policy Planning 
Policy Wales Edition 9 paragraph 4.2.2 states “The planning system 
provides for a presumption in favour of sustainable development to 
ensure that social, economic and environmental issues are balanced 
and integrated, at the same time,” when taking decision on planning 
applications.”

Planning Policy Wales Edition 9 paragraph 4.2.4 states “A plan led 
approach is the most effective way to secure sustainable development 
through the planning system and it is important that plans are adopted 
and kept regularly under review. Legislation secures a presumption in 
favour of development in accordance with the development plan for 
the area unless material considerations indicate otherwise (see 3.1.2) 
Where;

 There is no adopted development plan (see 2.6) or
 The relevant development plan policies are considered 

outdated or superseded (see 2.7) or
 Where there are no relevant policies (see 2.7)

there is a presumption in favour of proposal in accordance with the 
key principles (see 4.3) and key policy objectives (see 4.4) of 
sustainable development in the planning system. In doing so, 
proposals should seek to balance and integrate these objectives to 
maximise sustainable development outcomes.”

7.18 Paragraph 4.2.5 states “In taking decisions on individual planning 
applications it is the responsibility of the decision-maker to judge 
whether this is the case using all available evidence, taking into 
account the key principles (see 4.3) and policy objectives (see 4,4) of 
planning for sustainable development. In such case the local planning 
authority must clearly state the reasons for the decision.”

7.19 Sustainable development and capacity of the settlement
The site is outside any defined settlement with any facilities. It is 
1.5km from the site to the adopted highway of Sealand Road.  The 
nearest settlement is Sealand which has no facilities. Garden City is 
approximately 4km to the west and Blacon is 4km to the east. 

7.20 Para 4.7.8 of PPW states ‘development in the countryside should be 
located within and adjoining those settlements where it can best be 
accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access and habitat and 
landscape conservation…new building in the open countryside away 
from existing settlements or areas allocated for development in 
development plans must continue to be strictly controlled’. 

Page 88



7.21 The location is not considered to be sustainable as it is located off a 
private road approximately 1.5km off the adopted highway. It is 
therefore considered that any additional development in this location 
would be wholly dependent on the car.  The development would 
constitute development in the open countryside away from any 
settlement which national policy states it should be strictly controlled. 
While there is a lack of a 5 year land supply it is not considered that 
this overrides the harm caused by a dwelling in the open countryside 
and the green barrier. 

8.00
8.01

CONCLUSION
The proposed development is for new housing development in the 
open countryside and would constitute inappropriate development in 
the green barrier.  No evidence of any identified local housing need for 
the development has been put forward and therefore there are no 
exceptional circumstances to outweigh the harm from inappropriate 
development in the green barrier.  Furthermore the application site is 
in an unsustainable location and therefore contrary to national policy 
guidance set out in PPW and TAN1. 

8.02 Other Considerations
The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 
necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate aims 
of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty 
under the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.    

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Emma Hancock
Telephone: (01352) 703254
Email: emma.hancock@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



T
ra

ck

D
ra

in

Old Farm Cottages

1

Depot

7

5 8

Crofters Cottage

T
an

k

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:1250

SJ 3567

56318

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

SEALAND

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: 12TH APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER (PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT)

SUBJECT: FULL APPLICATION – ERECTION OF SUNROOM 
AND GARAGE WITH BEDROOM EXTENSION 
ABOVE AT 7 PINEWOOD ROAD, DRURY

APPLICATION 
NUMBER:

056669

APPLICANT: MR. MIKE PEERS

SITE: 7 PINEWOOD ROAD,
DRURY

APPLICATION 
VALID DATE:

7TH MARCH 2017

LOCAL MEMBERS: CLLR. D. HUTCHINSON AND CLLR. M. J. PEERS

TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCIL: BUCKLEY TOWN COUNCIL

REASON FOR 
COMMITTEE: APPLICANT IS AN ELECTED MEMBER

SITE VISIT: NO

1.00 SUMMARY

1.01 This is a full application for the erection of a sunroom and garage 
extension with bedroom extension above to the side of 7 Pinewood 
Road, Drury. The main issues to consider are the impact on 
residential amenity and the visual appearance of the proposal. 

2.00 RECOMMENDATION: TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, 
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:-

2.01 The proposal is recommended for approval subject to the following 
conditions:

Page 93

Agenda Item 6.6



Conditions
1. Time Limit
2. In accordance with plans

3.00 CONSULTATIONS

3.01 Local Member
Cllr. Dennis Hutchinson
No response received at time of writing report

Buckley Town Council
No objection to the proposal

Head of Public Protection
No objection to the proposal

4.00 PUBLICITY

4.01 Neighbour Notification
No responses received at time of writing report

5.00 SITE HISTORY

5.01 No relevant planning history

6.00 PLANNING POLICIES

6.01 Flintshire Unitary Development Plan 
GEN 1 – General Requirements for Development
GEN 2 – Development Inside Settlement Boundaries
D1 – Design Quality, Location and Layout
D2 – Design
HSG12 – House Extensions and Alterations

7.00 PLANNING APPRAISAL

7.01 This application is for the erection of an extension to the side of the 
dwelling to provide a garage and sun room on the ground floor and 
bedroom on the first floor. The application site is located within the 
defined settlement boundary of Drury, a small village situated on the 
outskirts of Buckley. 

7.02 The property consists of a detached dwelling finished in brick with 
attached single garage. The property is a traditional dwelling with 
kitchen, lounge and conservatory on the ground floor with three 

Page 94



bedrooms and a bathroom on the first floor. 

7.03 Principle
Extensions to dwellings are considered under Planning Policy HSG12 
of the Flintshire Unitary Development Plan and Local Planning 
Guidance Note No 1; Extension and Alterations to Dwellings. Policy 
HSG2 states that extensions to dwellings are generally considered 
acceptable providing that they do not have an adverse impact on the 
visual or residential amenity of the area. Furthermore, the design 
must ensure that the proposal does not constitute overdevelopment. 
LPGN No1 provides additional guidance regarding the scale and 
design of house extensions.  

7.04 Design
The proposed extension will consist of both single storey and two 
storey elements. From the front elevation the proposed extension will 
have a garage style door with roof lights at first floor. The proposed 
roof of the extension is designed with a gable style which will be set 
lower than the existing roof. On the rear elevation the extension drops 
to single storey to reduce any impact on the neighbouring properties.  
This proposed roof design ensure the extension appears subsidiary 
to the main dwelling whilst retaining a design which is which respects 
the surrounding residential development. 

7.05 The application proposes the use of matching bricks and roof tiles to 
ensure that it is in keeping with both the existing dwelling and the 
surrounding neighbouring properties. Overall the scale, form and 
design of the extension is sympathetic to the existing dwelling. 
Furthermore, as the proposal does not have an adverse impact on 
the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, as sufficient interface 
distances between facing windows are maintained it is considered the 
proposal complies with policy HSG12, LPGN1 and LPGN2.

8.00 CONCLUSION

8.01 It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the relevant 
planning policies and guidance. The proposed extension to provide 
garage, sunroom and first floor bedroom meets both Local and 
National Planning Policy, and would not have an adverse impact on 
the living conditions of the neighbouring occupiers.

8.02 Other Considerations

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and considered that there would be no 
significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result 
of the recommended decision.

The Council has acted in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
including Article 8 of the Convention and in a manner which is 

Page 95



necessary in a democratic society in furtherance of the legitimate 
aims of the Act and the Convention.

The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty 
under the Equality Act 2010.

The Council has had due regard to its duty under Section 3 of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and considered 
that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended 
decision.    

LIST OF BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Planning Application & Supporting Documents
National & Local Planning Policy
Responses to Consultation
Responses to Publicity

Contact Officer: Claire Morter
Telephone: (01352) 703257
Email: Claire.e.morter@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 96



R
O

S
E

W
O

O
D

 G
R

O
V

EPINEWOOD ROAD

B
E

E
C

H
R

O
A

D

LO^N WAVERLEY(W
A

V
E

R
L
E

Y
 D

R
IV

E
)

1
2

7

18

29

16

1
9

31
27

6

1
0

1
2

43

20

3
2

3
8

30

24

4
0

15

4

1
5

10

1

1
1

7

8

2

School

1
9

Primary

2

1
7

1

Drury
6

2
1

1
2

Waverley

14

17

11

1
4

Planning & Environment,
Flintshire County Council, County Hall,
Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NF.

Chief Officer:  Mr Andrew Farrow

This plan is based on Ordnance Survey Material
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence number: 100023386.
Flintshire County Council, 2017.

Location Plan      Scale 1:50,000   

Map Scale

OS Map ref

Planning Application

1:1000

SJ 2964

56669

Application Site

Adopted Flintshire Unitary
Development Plan
Settlement Boundary

Planning Application Site

Legend

ééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééééé
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

DRURY

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

REPORT TO: PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

DATE: WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

REPORT BY: CHIEF OFFICER GOVERNANCE

SUBJECT: THE SIZE AND COMPOSITION OF LOCAL 
PLANNING AUTHORITY COMMITTEES (WALES) 
REGULATIONS 2017 (the Regulations)

1.00 APPLICATION NUMBER

1.01 Not applicable.

2.00 APPLICANT

2.01 Not applicable.

3.00 SITE

3.01 Not applicable.

4.00 APPLICATION VALID DATE

4.01 Not applicable.

5.00 PURPOSE OF REPORT

5.01 To inform the Planning and Development Control Committee (the 
Committee) that the Regulations will apply from May 2017 and 
therefore, for all future meetings of the Committee.

6.00 REPORT

6.01 The Regulations were made on the 21st of March 2017 and come into 
force on the 5th of May 2017.  Much of the content was expected and 
will have little impact but the council will need to make some changes 
to the composition of its current committee.  This will happen at the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) and will come into effect immediately. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6.7



The requirements of the legislation are all mandatory and are as 
follows:-

 There shall be a minimum of 11 and a maximum of 21 
members, but not more than 50% of the members of the local 
authority as a whole;

 The quorum for meetings must be at least 50%;
 The use of substitutes is prohibited; and
 There may only be a single member from each ward on the 

planning committee (clearly this only has an impact on 
authorities with multiple member wards)

6.03 Of course, the size requirements will not have any impact on the 
committee, which already satisfies the criteria.  The Council has also 
already set a voluntary quorum of 50%.  The prohibition on substitutes 
was discussed within the consultation on the Planning (Wales) Bill and 
therefore was (at least) expected.

The last requirement (only 1 member from a two member ward) was 
not, however, discussed or expected.  Depending upon the election 
results and individual member preference it could raise practical 
difficulties.  For example, there is currently 1 ward where both 
members serve on the committee and might wish to do so again if re-
elected.  Perhaps more difficult would be a situation where a ward is 
represented by members of 2 different political groups both of whom 
wish to serve on the committee.  The legislation does not prescribe a 
mechanism for deciding who should take the place, and the council 
itself has no legislative power to dictate who should take up a seat 
allocated to a political group.  The council will therefore need to agree 
how such a situation would be resolved when the rules are adopted in 
May, and officers will draft proposals in time for the AGM.

7.00 RECOMMENDATIONS

7.01  To note the Regulations and their effect on the composition of the 
Committee in the future.

Contact Officer: Matthew Georgiou
Telephone: 01352 702330
Email: matthew.georgiou@flintsire.gov.uk

Page 100


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6.1 055590 - R - Full Application - Erection of 186 Dwellings and Ancillary Development at Chester Road, Penymynydd
	Enc. 1 for 055590 - Full Application - Erection of 190 Dwellings and Ancillary Development at Chester Road, Penymynydd

	6.2 056325 - A - Full Application - Change of Use from Seven Bedroom Dwelling (Class C3) to Residential Care Home (Class C2) for up to Nine Adults at 93 Wepre Park, Connah's Quay.
	Enc. 1 for 056325 - Full Application - Change of Use from Seven Bedroom Dwelling (Class C3) to Residential Care Home (Class C2) for up to Nine Adults at 93 Wepre Park, Connah's Quay.

	6.3 056257 - A - Full Application - Amendments to Planning Permission 050293 Including Microbrewery, Internal Changes, Outside Walls and Garage at Poachers Cottage Inn, High Street, Ffrith.
	Enc. 1 for 056257 - Full Application - Amendments to Planning Permission 050293 Including Microbrewery, Internal Changes, Outside Walls and Garage at Pachers Cottage Inn, High Street, Ffrith.

	6.4 056542 - A - Full Application - Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at The Old Stackyard, Bretton Court Mews, Bretton.
	Enc. 1 for 056542 - Full Application - Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at The Old Stackyard, Bretton Court Mews, Bretton.
	Enc. 2 for 056542 - Full Application - Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at The Old Stackyard, Bretton Court Mews, Bretton.

	6.5 056318 - R - Outline Application for the Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at Crofters Cottage, Deeside Lane, Sealand.
	Enc. 1 for 056318 - Outline Application for the Erection of 1 No. Dwelling at Crofters Cottage, Deeside Lane, Sealand.

	6.6 056669 - A - Full Application - Erection of Sunroom and Garage with Bedroom Extension Above at 7 Pinewood Road, Drury.
	Enc. 1 for 056669 - Full Application - Erection of Sunroom and Garage with Bedroom Extension Above at 7 Pinewood Road, Drury.

	6.7 The Size and Composition of Local Planning Authority Committees (Wales) Regulations 2017 (the Regulations)

